
VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD HILLS 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 
***Amended Meeting Announcement & Agenda at 7:00 p.m. 

Monday, October 19, 2015 
Village Hall, 810 Shorewood Boulevard  

 
1. Call to Order 
2. Roll Call 
3. Statement of Public Notice 
4. Procedures Orientation 
5. Appearances and Communications 
6. Board Matters 

A. Payment of Bills 
B. Consent Agenda 

i) September 21, open and closed session minutes  
C. Ordinances 

i) Second and possible third reading of an Ordinance L-2015-2 Amending 
Section 7.08(2) Parking, Stopping and Standing regulated by extending no 
parking except by permit to include Saturdays, Sundays and holidays on 
the west side of University Bay Drive from 918 University Bay Drive to 
Harvard Drive  

ii) First reading of an Ordinance L-2015-5 Amending Chapter 13 of the 
Village code relating to cross connection control and backflow prevention  

iii) First reading of an Ordinance L-2015-6 amending Section. 7.08(2) and 
7.08(4) Parking, Stopping and Standing regulated 

iv) First reading of an Ordinance L-2015-7 changing the zoning classification 
of property located at 4610 University Avenue from C-3-(P) to planned 
unit development (P.U.D.) 

D. New Business Resolutions and Motions 
i) Consider Resolution R-2105-10 authorizing PARC grant application for 

bike path extension  
ii) Consider Resolution R-2015-11 Approving  cash  opt out incentive for 

employees eligible for health insurance but declining coverage to be paid 
in installments as part of payroll  

iii) Consider authorizing professional services agreement with Carlson 
Dettman and Associates to review/update Village compensation plan  

iv) Consider approving certified survey map for property located at 4610 
University Avenue  

v) Consider accepting Tax Increment District Report  
vi) ***Consider establishing position on elimination of Governmental 

Accountability Board 
E. Appointments 

7. Reports of Officials and Committees 

1 of 2 



              
 
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE, that any person who has a qualifying disability as defined by the Americans with Disability Act that requires the 
meeting or materials at the meeting to be in an accessible location or format, should contact the Municipal Clerk, 810 Shorewood Boulevard, or 
phone 267-2680, during regular business hours at least 48 hours before the meeting so that reasonable arrangements can be made to 
accommodate each request. 
 
It is possible that members of, and possibly a quorum of members of other governmental bodies of the Village of Shorewood Hills who are not 
members of the above committee may be in attendance at the above stated meeting to gather information. However, no formal action will be 
taken by any governmental body at the above meeting other than the committee identified in the caption of this notice. 
 

2 of 2 

A. Village President 
B. Village Administrator 
C. Personnel Committee 
D. Finance Committee 
E. Plan Commission 

i) University Bay Fields status report in conjunction with proposed UW 
Master Plan including possible Board discussion  

F. Public Works Committee 
G. Services Committee 
H. Public Health and Safety Committee 
I. Recreation Committee 
J. Parks Committee 
K. Pool Committee 
 
Please take notice that the Board may adjourn to Closed Session as per §19.85(1)(e) due 
to bargaining reasons and may reconvene to open session as per Wisconsin State Statutes 
19.85(2) to address any business that may be the result of the deliberations made in 
closed session (Tax Increment financing request from Flad Development for ATT Plaza 
project). 
 

8. Adjourn 



NOTES TO THE AGENDA OCTOBER 19, 2015  
 
Payment of Bills –  September Prepaids: $53,583.32 
October Board Bills: $111,574.54 Total: $165,157.86. The monthly YTD general fund budget 
report is also enclosed.  
 
Consent Agenda 
September 21, open and closed session minutes – Enclosed. 
 
Ordinances 
Second and possible third reading of an Ordinance L-2015-2 Amending Section 7.08(2) 
Parking, Stopping and Standing regulated by extending no parking except by permit to 
include Saturdays, Sundays and holidays on the west side of University Bay Drive from 918 
University Bay Drive to Harvard Drive – There are no changes to this ordinance  since the 
first reading at the last meeting. A copy of the ordinance is enclosed. The only comment received 
since then is provided below. 
hi karl, 

I hope the new parking regulation (to restrict parking on UBD from harvard dr. to highland ave 
on saturdays and sundays to be the same as the current restrictions are on weekdays) will pass 
this month at the board meting. all of the neighbors on this block continue to be mostly 
unanimous with this request. please let me know if there are any objections to this request so that 
I might be able to debate them. 

thank you, gaylene gondolfi bennett 

First reading of an Ordinance L-2015-5 Amending Chapter 13 of the Village code relating 
to cross connection control and backflow prevention – This is a procedural matter. The 
ordinance is required by the State through the Department of Natural Resources and has been 
since 1991. The Village has been complying with requirements of the ordinance but staff was 
unable to find a record that the Village had ever considered and approved one. It is not to be 
found in the codebook. The ordinance is based on the model ordinance promulgated by the 
Department of Natural Resources. A copy of the ordinance and appendix is enclosed as well as a 
brochure that describes what this is all about. In quick summary controlling cross connections 
and backflow prevention help ensure that the potable water supply is not subject to 
contamination.  The Public Works Crew is responsible for work and compliance with these 
requirements.  An annual DNR inspection of the water utility discovered this.     
 
First reading of an Ordinance L-2015-6 amending Section. 7.08(2) and 7.08(4) Parking, 
Stopping and Standing regulated – After receiving direction from the Board at the last 
meeting, Crew Chief Mitmoen carefully measured and identified streets and specific parts of 
streets with widths less than 24 feet as well as dead ends. Streets with triangle intersections were 
also identified because they also create pinch points. Using these criteria, the number of streets 
impacted by a one sided parking regulation is significantly reduced. The enclosed table created 
by Engineer Berquist identifies the impacted streets and an accompanying ordinance reflecting 
the changes is enclosed for consideration, as directed by the Public Works Committee at their 
October 9 meeting.   

1 of 4 



 
First reading of an Ordinance L-2015-7 changing the zoning classification of property 
located at 4610 University Avenue from C-3-(P) to planned unit development (P.U.D.) 
The Plan Commission held the required public hearing, has reviewed and is recommending the 
rezoning of the Pyare Square property to Planned Unit Development. The project consists of two 
apartment buildings totaling 94 apartment units and mirrors the recent adjacent Lodge 
development. The Board was previously provided the application submittals.  Enclosed is a 
rezoning ordinance drafted by the Village Attorney, and a review memo from our Village 
Planner. There will also be other considerations involved with this project, including a tax 
increment request that if approved in its current form would require that a new 27 year tax 
increment district be formed. It also includes a TIF request to subsidize the construction of nine 
affordable housing units. 
Below is   a note from the Village Attorney detailing items to be aware of.  
On Thu, Oct 15, 2015 at 3:26 PM, Matthew Dregne <MDREGNE@staffordlaw.com> wrote: 
Karl, 
  
I have attached our draft of the zoning ordinance for The Lodge Phase II.  Please note the 
following: 
  
1.       The developer is dedicating the bike repair / rest area on the CSM.  I expect the development 
agreement to require the developer to construct and install the bike area improvements in 
accordance with the SIP.  I am assuming that once the improvements are completed and 
dedicated to the Village, the Village will be responsible for maintaining that area going 
forward.  If the Village Board does not like that arrangement, we’ll need to discuss this. 

 2.       After discussions with the developer, I am expecting that the playground area will not be 
dedicated to the public, and will remain fully private property.  The developer does not want to 
convey an easement interest in that property to the Village / public.  The developer is willing to 
include language in the development agreement stating that members of the public may use the 
playground.  This is a very unusual way to create a “public park,” and I don’t think it will 
actually function as a “public park.”  I believe it will have the appearance of a playground that 
is part of the private apartment property, and will likely function as such.  I think this would be 
true, even if the playground were “dedicated” to the Village.  If the Village Board does not like 
that arrangement, we’ll need to discuss this. 

 3.       The only way to get to the playground area will be through private streets / sidewalks.  I 
will include language in the development agreement stating that the public may use the streets / 
sidewalks to access to the park, but again I am not expecting public dedication of the streets / 
sidewalks, by easement or otherwise.    If the Village Board does not like that arrangement, we’ll 
need to discuss this. 

 4.       One of the conditions in the ordinance requires cross easements between The Lodge Phase 
I property and The Lodge Phase II property.  At the time Phase I was approved, the Village 
required cooperation in providing such cross easements.  These easements will allow the 
owners, residents and guests of The Lodge Phase I and Phase II to use all of the internal drives.  
As a practical matter, members of the public are likely to use these drives.  However, the owner 

2 of 4 

mailto:MDREGNE@staffordlaw.com


would have the right to prohibit / prevent such public use.  If the Board is not comfortable with 
these arrangements, we’ll need to discuss this.  

 5.       I have inserted June 30, 2016 as the deadline for satisfying the conditions in the zoning 
ordinance.  If the Village and/or developer think another date should be used, that will need to 
be addressed. 

 New Business Resolutions and Motions 
Consider Resolution R-2105-10 authorizing PARC grant application for bike path 
extension – The application for this County grant program is enclosed. It has already been 
submitted to the County for consideration but it is necessary for an updated resolution that is 
enclosed to be approved by the Village Board. This is the same program that the Village used to 
construct the bike path extension behind the pool. This segment of path is behind the 700 
University Bay Drive project and Arbor Crossing I.   
 
On a related note, the three remaining parcels to the west of Arbor Crossing I on Marshall Court 
are now under the control of the Arbor Crossing developer and should a new project move 
forward the rest of the path connection to the Post Farm Path can likely be completed. We have 
made substantial progress with the University Station shopping center for some land swaps   that 
involves the possible development just mentioned above that will allow for the extension of the 
path along the south side of the parking lot of   the shopping center. Until that occurs, this grant 
funded extension will be accessed using the street between Arbor Crossing I and the new 
development at 700 University Bay Drive and eliminate the awkward movement at the 
intersection of Marshall Court and University Bay Drive. We are also working to try and make 
the new U Bay crossing as safe as possible.  The total project cost for this is $56,643 and the 
grant request is $28,643. 
 
Consider Resolution R-2015-11 Approving cash opt out incentive for employees eligible for 
health insurance but declining coverage to be paid in installments as part of payroll – The 
Personnel Committee is recommending that the Village  adopt this policy. Up until now state law 
did not allow local governments participating in the state health plan for local government 
employees to offer an opt out. The resolution that is enclosed provides more detail and rationale. 
The proposed opt out incentive is $2,000 annually.  The cost of a family health plan is 
approximately $16,500 per year. There are currently six employees who do not participate in the 
plan.  If they chose to do so the cost to the Village would be c $99,000 per year. This incentive 
may also cause other employees to evaluate their options to see if the opt out makes sense for 
them. If one family plan employee made that choice, the Village would more than makeup the 
money it will spend to provide the incentive to the current six employees. Of course there is no 
guarantee of that. The enclosed Personnel minutes also include the recommendation. The open 
enrollment period for 2016 ends on October 31st.  The Village 2016 budget preliminarily has 
accounted for this $12,000 expenditure, should the Board approve the policy.  
 
Consider authorizing professional services agreement with Carlson Dettman and 
Associates to review/update Village compensation plan – The Personnel Committee is 
recommending the Village undertake a review and update to the Village compensation plan. The 
current plan has been in place for eight years. The update will take a look at the total 

3 of 4 



4 of 4 

compensation package, private and public sector comparables and also provide options to deal 
with a growing number of employees at the top or near the top of the scale as well as concerns 
about possible lags in the police department with comparables. The Personnel Committee 
recently met with Charles Carlson to discuss the scope of the study and deliverables and is 
satisfied.  A copy of the agreement in the amount of $5,000 is included in the packet and the 
amount has tentatively been placed in the 2016 budget although if approved, the work may be 
done by end of December and expensed this year.  
 
Consider approving certified survey map for property located at 4610 University Avenue  
The proposed map has been reviewed by the Village planner and engineer and changes made 
based on their input.   Assuming the Board finds the CSM to be acceptable, the Village Attorney   
recommends that it be approved using the following motion:  “Motion to approve the CSM 
subject to the condition that the applicant or applicant’s assignee must acquire title to the 
property before the Village will sign the CSM.” This is another piece of the proposed Pyare 
redevelopment and incorporates the detachment of land from the City and public dedication of 
the bike repair station. 
  
Consider accepting Tax Increment District Report – The report is enclosed in the packet and 
an overview will be provided at the meeting.  In summary the two Village tax increment districts 
are performing very well.  
 



















PD = Fully Paid Invoice     PR = Partially Paid Invoice  

 
VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD HILLS    Payment Approval Report by GL No - Dept Heads Page:     1 

Paid / Unpaid Invoices  10/19/2015 - 10/19/2015 Oct 16, 2015  12:05pm 
 

GL Acct No Vendor Vendor Name Description Invoice No Inv Date Amount

19337 SHOREWOOD HILLS WATER & SEW 3402900 W/S  POOL CONCESSIO 9302015 09/30/2015 144.42 
100-211531 GENERAL FUND - HEALTH INSURANCE - EMPLOYEE

23370 WI DEPT OF EMPLOYE TRUST FUND HEALTHCARE PREMIUM 10132015 10/13/2015 12,812.10 PD

100-211532 GENERAL FUND - LIFE INSURANCE - EMPLOYEE
13397 MINNESOTA MUTUAL LIFE INS CO NOVEMBER PREMIUM 10132015 10/13/2015 768.10 

100-211535 GENERAL FUND - AFLAC INSURANCE
1210 AFLAC INSURANCE PREMIUM 10162015 10/16/2015 325.88 PD

100-211539 GENERAL FUND - DENTAL INSURANCE - EMPLOYEE
4213 DELTA DENTAL OF WISCONSIN EMPLOYEES'  PREMIUM 10162015 10/16/2015 932.00 

100-211541 GENERAL FUND - ICMA PAYABLE
9122 ICMA RETIREMENT TRUST 457 INC. PAYROLL CONTR. 10012015 10/01/2015 150.00 PD
9122 ICMA RETIREMENT TRUST 457 INC. PAYROLL CONTR. 10082015 10/08/2015 350.00 PD

500.00   *
100-211543 GENERAL FUND - WI DEFERRED PAYABLE

7714 GREAT WEST PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS 10092015 10/09/2015 1,950.00 PD

100-211545 GENERAL FUND - FED/FICA/MED TAX PAYABLE
6210 FEDERAL WITHHOLDING EFTPS FED WITHHOLDING 10142015 10/14/2015 11,686.59 PD

100-211549 GENERAL FUND - SWT PAYABLE
23387 WI DEPT OF REVENUE (EMP W/H) STATE WITHHOLDING TAX 10022015 10/02/2015 2,163.64 PD
23387 WI DEPT OF REVENUE (EMP W/H) STATE WITHHOLDING TAX 10122015 10/12/2015 1,964.47 PD

4,128.11   *
100-211551 GENERAL FUND - RETIREMENT PAYABLE

23370 WI DEPT OF EMPLOYE TRUST FUND WI  RETIREMENT PAYM. 10102015 10/09/2015 12,986.15 PD

100-45-4511-000 GENERAL FUND - FINES, FORFEITS, & PENALTIES - 100-45-4511 - COURT FINES
4038 DANE CO TREASURER SHARED FINES-SEPT 10012015 10/01/2015 707.60 

23350 WI DEPT ADMINISTRATION: COURT SHARED FINES-SEPT. 10012015 10/01/2015 1,280.40 
1,988.00   *

          Total 100-45-4511-000 1,988.00 

100-51-5142-310 GENERAL FUND - VILLAGE BOARD - CLERK - CLERK: SUP & EXPENSES
23375 WI DEPT OF JUSTICE- L1375 BACKGROUND CHECK-LIQUOR 9302015 09/30/2015 28.00 
23375 WI DEPT OF JUSTICE- L1375 BACKGROUND CHECK-SOLICITO 9302015 09/30/2015 42.00 

70.00   *

          Total 100-51-5142-310 70.00 

100-51-5143-300 GENERAL FUND - VILLAGE BOARD - PERSONNEL - PERSONNEL: RETIREES INS PREM
4213 DELTA DENTAL OF WISCONSIN ANNUITANT PREMIUM 10162015 10/16/2015 309.75 

23370 WI DEPT OF EMPLOYE TRUST FUND ANNUITANT PREMIUM 10132015 10/13/2015 1,977.00 PD
2,286.75   *

          Total 100-51-5143-300 2,286.75 

100-51-5154-511 GENERAL FUND - VILLAGE BOARD - RISK & PROPERTY MANAGEMENT - LIABILITY INS (LEAGUE)
2049 BAER INSURANCE SERVICES LLC BLANKET CRIME BOND 59132 10/06/2015 1,465.00 



PD = Fully Paid Invoice     PR = Partially Paid Invoice  

 
VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD HILLS    Payment Approval Report by GL No - Dept Heads Page:     2 

Paid / Unpaid Invoices  10/19/2015 - 10/19/2015 Oct 16, 2015  12:05pm 
 

GL Acct No Vendor Vendor Name Description Invoice No Inv Date Amount

          Total 100-51-5154-511 1,465.00 

100-51-5160-220 GENERAL FUND - VILLAGE BOARD - BUILDINGS & PLANT - BLDGS & PLANT: GAS & ELECTRIC
13040 MADISON GAS & ELECTRIC 810 & 1008 SHOREWOOD BLVD 40319642 10/08/2015 3,519.67 

          Total 100-51-5160-220 3,519.67 

100-51-5160-221 GENERAL FUND - VILLAGE BOARD - BUILDINGS & PLANT - BLDGS & PLANT: WATER
19337 SHOREWOOD HILLS WATER & SEW 1058300 W/S RINK 9302015 09/30/2015 163.93 
19337 SHOREWOOD HILLS WATER & SEW 3589000 W/S  HEIDEN HAUS 9302015 09/30/2015 119.15 
19337 SHOREWOOD HILLS WATER & SEW 2251500 W/S  FOUR CORNERS S 9302015 09/30/2015 77.70 
19337 SHOREWOOD HILLS WATER & SEW 910100 W/S 810 Shorewood Blvd. 9302015 09/30/2015 49.92 
19337 SHOREWOOD HILLS WATER & SEW 1058000 W/S 1008 SW BLVD 9302015 09/30/2015 335.47 
19337 SHOREWOOD HILLS WATER & SEW 3403200 W/S  GARDENS 9302015 09/30/2015 214.40 

960.57  *

          Total 100-51-5160-221 960.57 

100-51-5160-222 GENERAL FUND - VILLAGE BOARD - BUILDINGS & PLANT - BLDGS & PLANT: TELEPHONE
3220 CENTURY LINK CENTREX LINES  1353706189 09/30/2015 11.46 

          Total 100-51-5160-222 11.46 

100-51-5160-223 GENERAL FUND - VILLAGE BOARD - BUILDINGS & PLANT - BLDGS & PLANT:STORMWATER  CHRG
19337 SHOREWOOD HILLS WATER & SEW 1128500 SE OAK WAY LOTS 9302015 09/30/2015 82.50 
19337 SHOREWOOD HILLS WATER & SEW 908700 SE  3264 UNIV. AVE LOT 9302015 09/30/2015 27.50 
19337 SHOREWOOD HILLS WATER & SEW 2331400 STORMWATER MCKENN 9302015 09/30/2015 110.00 
19337 SHOREWOOD HILLS WATER & SEW 1112500 SE 1001 EDGEHILL LOT 9302015 09/30/2015 27.50 
19337 SHOREWOOD HILLS WATER & SEW 3477500 SE 2700 OXFORD LOT 9302015 09/30/2015 27.50 
19337 SHOREWOOD HILLS WATER & SEW 1126300 SE QUARRY 9302015 09/30/2015 165.00 
19337 SHOREWOOD HILLS WATER & SEW 3378500 SE BRADLEY PARK 9302015 09/30/2015 27.50 
19337 SHOREWOOD HILLS WATER & SEW 2285500 SE KOVAL WOODS 9302015 09/30/2015 27.50 
19337 SHOREWOOD HILLS WATER & SEW 2303000 SE BIG FOOT PARK 9302015 09/30/2015 27.50 
19337 SHOREWOOD HILLS WATER & SEW 1058500 SE-1008 SHOREWOOD 9302015 09/30/2015 154.00 
19337 SHOREWOOD HILLS WATER & SEW 2237500 SE FOUR CORNERS LO 9302015 09/30/2015 55.00 
19337 SHOREWOOD HILLS WATER & SEW 3589000 SE  HEIDEN HAUS 9302015 09/30/2015 27.50 
19337 SHOREWOOD HILLS WATER & SEW 910200 SE-810 SHOREWOOD BL 9302015 09/30/2015 231.00 
19337 SHOREWOOD HILLS WATER & SEW 910300 SE 810 SHOREWOOD BL 9302015 09/30/2015 41.25 
19337 SHOREWOOD HILLS WATER & SEW 1056500 SE  ENTRYWAY PARKS 9302015 09/30/2015 55.00 
19337 SHOREWOOD HILLS WATER & SEW 2251500 SE 4 CORNERS SHELTE 9302015 09/30/2015 27.50 
19337 SHOREWOOD HILLS WATER & SEW 3403200 STORMWATER GARDEN 9302015 09/30/2015 27.50 
19337 SHOREWOOD HILLS WATER & SEW 1058000 STORMWATER 1008 SH 9302015 09/30/2015 27.50 
19337 SHOREWOOD HILLS WATER & SEW 1030500 SE  TALLY HO BOOSTE 9302015 09/30/2015 27.50 

1,196.25   *

          Total 100-51-5160-223 1,196.25 

100-51-5160-530 GENERAL FUND - VILLAGE BOARD - BUILDINGS & PLANT - BLDGS & PLANT: RENTAL EXPENSE
4207 DEGEN AND ASSOCIATES LLC RENT - 5133 UNIVERSITY AVE 10132015 10/13/2015 2,052.09 



PD = Fully Paid Invoice     PR = Partially Paid Invoice  

 
VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD HILLS    Payment Approval Report by GL No - Dept Heads Page:     3 

Paid / Unpaid Invoices  10/19/2015 - 10/19/2015 Oct 16, 2015  12:05pm 
 

GL Acct No Vendor Vendor Name Description Invoice No Inv Date Amount

13040 MADISON GAS & ELECTRIC 5133 UNIVERSITY 40319642 10/08/2015 24.44 
2,076.53   *

          Total VILLAGE BOARD 11,586.23 

          Total 100-51-5160-530 2,076.53 

100-52-5210-210 GENERAL FUND - PUBLIC SERVICES - POLICE DEPARTMENT - POLICE: CONTRACTUAL SERVICES
13082 MADISON CITY TREASURER RMS PROJECT ANNUAL SUPPOR 2062 09/24/2015 5,113.26 

          Total 100-52-5210-210 5,113.26 

100-52-5210-340 GENERAL FUND - PUBLIC SERVICES - POLICE DEPARTMENT - POLICE: OPERATING EXPENSE
23375 WI DEPT OF JUSTICE- L1375 BACKGROUND CHECK-J. LATIME 9302015 09/30/2015 7.00 

          Total 100-52-5210-340 7.00 

100-52-5210-370 GENERAL FUND - PUBLIC SERVICES - POLICE DEPARTMENT - POLICE: FUEL & OIL
19311 SHELL OIL CO:POLICE ACCT DISCOUNT 79030045510 10/06/2015 9.86 -
19311 SHELL OIL CO:POLICE ACCT FED CREDIT 79030045510 10/06/2015 60.17 -
19311 SHELL OIL CO:POLICE ACCT FUEL FOR SQUADS 79030045510 10/06/2015 791.89 

721.86   *

          Total PUBLIC SERVICES 5,842.12 

          Total 100-52-5210-370 721.86 

100-53-5300-340 GENERAL FUND - PUBLIC WORKS - PUBLIC WORKS - AIDABLE WORK: OPERATING EXP.
13040 MADISON GAS & ELECTRIC 4502 OLD MIDDLETON ROAD 40319642 10/08/2015 24.31 

          Total 100-53-5300-340 24.31 

100-53-5320-350 GENERAL FUND - PUBLIC WORKS - MUNICIPAL GARAGE - GARAGE: VEHICLE REPAIR & MAINT
23238 WEST SIDE RADIATOR SERVICE LABOR 113748 09/11/2015 58.00 
23238 WEST SIDE RADIATOR SERVICE RADIATOR 113748 09/11/2015 480.00 
23238 WEST SIDE RADIATOR SERVICE ANTIFREEZE 113748 09/11/2015 28.50 

566.50   *

          Total 100-53-5320-350 566.50 

100-53-5320-370 GENERAL FUND - PUBLIC WORKS - MUNICIPAL GARAGE - GARAGE: FUEL & OIL
19841 STOP-N-GO DPW GAS GAS - DPW 9-15 09/30/2015 306.21 



PD = Fully Paid Invoice     PR = Partially Paid Invoice  

 
VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD HILLS    Payment Approval Report by GL No - Dept Heads Page:     4 

Paid / Unpaid Invoices  10/19/2015 - 10/19/2015 Oct 16, 2015  12:05pm 
 

GL Acct No Vendor Vendor Name Description Invoice No Inv Date Amount

          Total 100-53-5320-370 306.21 

100-53-5342-220 GENERAL FUND - PUBLIC WORKS - STREET LIGHTING - STREET LIGHTING: POWER
13040 MADISON GAS & ELECTRIC STREET LIGHTING 40319642 10/08/2015 1,457.01 
13040 MADISON GAS & ELECTRIC 2914 OXF,900 SH.BLV,1400 WOO 40319642 10/08/2015 48.91 

1,505.92   *

          Total PUBLIC WORKS 2,402.94 

          Total 100-53-5342-220 1,505.92 

100-55-5500-340 GENERAL FUND - NON-AIDABLE EXPENSES - NON-AIDABLE EXPENSES - NON-AIDABLE: OPERATING EXPENSE
13040 MADISON GAS & ELECTRIC 3302 BLACKH,3100 HARV,1004 S 40319642 10/08/2015 104.20 
13085 MADISON TREASURER, CITY OF WATER/FIRE-810 SW BLVD 8129242 09/22/2015 17.55 
13085 MADISON TREASURER, CITY OF 810 SW BLVD-FIRE PROTECTION 8135681 09/23/2015 15.33 

137.08   *

          Total 100-55-5500-340 137.08 

100-55-5520-340 GENERAL FUND - NON-AIDABLE EXPENSES - PARKS - PARKS:OPERATING EXPENSE
13365 MIDDLETON FARMERS CO-OP INC GRASS SEED, GLOVES, RAKES 266743 10/14/2015 182.28 

          Total 100-55-5520-340 182.28 

100-55-5520-342 GENERAL FUND - NON-AIDABLE EXPENSES - PARKS - VILLAGE TREE SALES COSTS
23480 WINTERLAND NURSERY INC TREE SALES 48064 09/28/2015 1,059.75 

          Total 100-55-5520-342 1,059.75 

100-55-5520-370 GENERAL FUND - NON-AIDABLE EXPENSES - PARKS - FORESTER: FUEL & OIL
19845 STOP-N-GO DPW DIESEL DIESEL  FUEL SEPT15 09/30/2015 497.57 

          Total 100-55-5520-370 497.57 

100-55-5532-340 GENERAL FUND - NON-AIDABLE EXPENSES - LAND RECREATION PROGRAM - LAND RECREATION: OPERATING EX
1000689 WICKMAN, PETER & JENNIFER LAND REC SUPPLIES 9302015 09/30/2015 49.95 
1000689 WICKMAN, PETER & JENNIFER LAND REC SUPPLIES 9302015 09/30/2015 63.73 

113.68  *

          Total 100-55-5532-340 113.68 

100-55-5533-340 GENERAL FUND - NON-AIDABLE EXPENSES - TENNIS PROGRAM - TENNIS: OPERATING EXPENSES
19337 SHOREWOOD HILLS WATER & SEW 3403100 2ND & 3RD QTR TENNIS 9302015 09/30/2015 455.13 



PD = Fully Paid Invoice     PR = Partially Paid Invoice  

 
VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD HILLS    Payment Approval Report by GL No - Dept Heads Page:     5 

Paid / Unpaid Invoices  10/19/2015 - 10/19/2015 Oct 16, 2015  12:05pm 
 

GL Acct No Vendor Vendor Name Description Invoice No Inv Date Amount

          Total 100-55-5533-340 455.13 

100-55-5538-340 GENERAL FUND - NON-AIDABLE EXPENSES - 100-55-5538 - OUTDOOR SOCCER: OPERATNG EXPEN
1000020 MC CLAIN, JANET AND ROB PAINT FOR SOCCER GOALS 0258100 09/30/2015 87.00 
1000682 GARCETE, VINCENTE COACH BACKGROUND CHECK 2060471 09/16/2015 12.00 

99.00   *

          Total NON-AIDABLE EXPENSES 2,544.49 

          Total 100-55-5538-340 99.00 

100-56-5640-210 GENERAL FUND - CONSERVATION & DEVELOPMENT - 100-56-5640 - PROF CONSULTANT:PLAN REVIEW
20670 TOWN & COUNTRY ENGINEERING INVILLAGE PARKING INVENTORY 16018 10/08/2015 520.00 
20670 TOWN & COUNTRY ENGINEERING IN2015 MISCELLANEOUS 16020 10/08/2015 195.00 

715.00   *

          Total CONSERVATION & DEVELOPMENT 715.00 

          Total 100-56-5640-210 715.00 

          Total GENERAL FUND 71,312.13 

200-51-5160-220 SEWER DIVISION FUND - CLERK - BUILDINGS & PLANT - BLDG/PLANT: GAS & ELECTRIC
13040 MADISON GAS & ELECTRIC 3336 LAKE MENDOTA DRIVE 40319642 10/08/2015 88.52 

          Total CLERK 88.52 

          Total 200-51-5160-220 88.52 

200-53-5361-340 SEWER DIVISION FUND - PUBLIC WORKS - GENERAL OPERATIONS - OPERATING SUPPLIES EXPENSE
4215 DELUXE DISTRIBUTORS SEWER DEGREASER 4419 10/01/2015 720.00 
4215 DELUXE DISTRIBUTORS SHIPPING 4419 10/01/2015 56.00 

776.00   *

          Total PUBLIC WORKS 776.00 

          Total 200-53-5361-340 776.00 



PD = Fully Paid Invoice     PR = Partially Paid Invoice  

 
VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD HILLS    Payment Approval Report by GL No - Dept Heads Page:     6 

Paid / Unpaid Invoices  10/19/2015 - 10/19/2015 Oct 16, 2015  12:05pm 
 

GL Acct No Vendor Vendor Name Description Invoice No Inv Date Amount

          Total SEWER DIVISION FUND 864.52 

210-51-5160-220 POOL SPECIAL REVENUE FUND - LEGAL - BUILDINGS & PLANT - BLDG/PLANT: GAS & ELECTRIC
13040 MADISON GAS & ELECTRIC 901 SWARTHMORE CT-POOL 40319642 10/08/2015 5,027.92 
13040 MADISON GAS & ELECTRIC 901 SWARTHMORE - CONCESSI 40319642 10/08/2015 377.62 

5,405.54  *

          Total 210-51-5160-220 5,405.54 

210-51-5160-221 POOL SPECIAL REVENUE FUND - LEGAL - BUILDINGS & PLANT - BLDG/PLANT: WATER
19337 SHOREWOOD HILLS WATER & SEW 3403000 W/S & DEDUCT TO POO 9302015 09/30/2015 3,940.07 

          Total 210-51-5160-221 3,940.07 

210-51-5160-223 POOL SPECIAL REVENUE FUND - LEGAL - BUILDINGS & PLANT - BLDGS & PLANT:STORMWATER  CHRG
19337 SHOREWOOD HILLS WATER & SEW 3403100 2ND & 3RD QTR POOL 9302015 09/30/2015 455.12 
19337 SHOREWOOD HILLS WATER & SEW 3403000 STORMWATER TO POO 9302015 09/30/2015 27.50 
19337 SHOREWOOD HILLS WATER & SEW 3402900 SE  POOL CONCESSION 9302015 09/30/2015 27.50 

510.12  *

          Total LEGAL 9,855.73 

          Total 210-51-5160-223 510.12 

210-55-5542-339 POOL SPECIAL REVENUE FUND - POOL OPERATIONS - POOL OPERATIONS - POOL: CHEMICALS
13384 MIDWEST POOL SUPPLY COMPANY CREDIT 59151 09/04/2015 16.50 -
13384 MIDWEST POOL SUPPLY COMPANY BULK ACID 59151 09/04/2015 291.50 
13384 MIDWEST POOL SUPPLY COMPANY BULK CHLORINE 59152 09/08/2015 556.50 

831.50   *

          Total POOL OPERATIONS 831.50 

          Total 210-55-5542-339 831.50 

          Total POOL SPECIAL REVENUE FUND 10,687.23 

220-51-5160-220 WATERFRONT:SPECIAL REV FUND - CLERK - BUILDINGS & PLANT - BLDG/PLANT: GAS & ELECTRIC
13040 MADISON GAS & ELECTRIC 3400 LMD/4898 LMD 40319642 10/08/2015 73.83 

          Total CLERK 73.83 



PD = Fully Paid Invoice     PR = Partially Paid Invoice  

 
VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD HILLS    Payment Approval Report by GL No - Dept Heads Page:     7 

Paid / Unpaid Invoices  10/19/2015 - 10/19/2015 Oct 16, 2015  12:05pm 
 

GL Acct No Vendor Vendor Name Description Invoice No Inv Date Amount

          Total 220-51-5160-220 73.83 

          Total WATERFRONT:SPECIAL REV FUND 73.83 

400-53-5344-868 CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND - MUNICIPAL GARAGE - 400-53-5344 - 2015 ROADS: RESURFACE, OAK WAY
20670 TOWN & COUNTRY ENGINEERING IN2015 STREET IMPROVEMENTS 16019 10/08/2015 4,661.70 

          Total MUNICIPAL GARAGE 4,661.70 

          Total 400-53-5344-868 4,661.70 

          Total CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND 4,661.70 

450-51-5141-120 450 - 450-51 - 450-51-5141 - PLANNING, LEGAL & ADMINISTRATN
22360 VIERBICHER ASSOCIATES INC TID #3 ADMIN-AT&T TIF 9102015 09/10/2015 2,585.00 
22360 VIERBICHER ASSOCIATES INC TID #3 ADMIN 9102015 09/10/2015 220.00 

2,805.00  *

          Total 450-51 2,805.00 

          Total 450-51-5141-120 2,805.00 

          Total 450 2,805.00 

470-51-5141-120 470 - 470-51 - 470-51-5141 - PLANNING LEGAL & ADMIN-PYARE
22360 VIERBICHER ASSOCIATES INC TID#4-THE LODGE/PYARE 9102015 09/10/2015 1,480.00 
22360 VIERBICHER ASSOCIATES INC TID#4 - THE LODGE/PYARE 9102015 09/10/2015 1,465.00 
22360 VIERBICHER ASSOCIATES INC TID#4 ADMIN-GENERAL 9102015 09/10/2015 32.50 

2,977.50   *

          Total 470-51 2,977.50 

          Total 470-51-5141-120 2,977.50 

          Total 470 2,977.50 

500-53-5364-340 STORM WATER UTILITY FUND - 500-53 - 500-53-5364 - OPERATING SUPPLIES AND EXPENSE



PD = Fully Paid Invoice     PR = Partially Paid Invoice  

 
VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD HILLS    Payment Approval Report by GL No - Dept Heads Page:     8 

Paid / Unpaid Invoices  10/19/2015 - 10/19/2015 Oct 16, 2015  12:05pm 
 

8229 HELT DIVERSIFIED LLC STREET SWEEPINGS (9 LOADS) 304518 09/27/2015 270.00 

          Total 500-53 270.00 

          Total 500-53-5364-340 270.00 

          Total STORM WATER UTILITY FUND 270.00 

600-53-0610-601 WATER DEPARTMENT FUND - WATER: WAGES AND BENEFITS - OPERATIONS - PURCHASED WATER
13085 MADISON TREASURER, CITY OF 810 SW BLVD-FLAT RATE 8129237 09/23/2015 352.50 
13085 MADISON TREASURER, CITY OF PIT-LAKE MENDOTA DRIVE 8129238 09/22/2015 2,783.94 
13085 MADISON TREASURER, CITY OF PIT-SW BLVD AT TRACKS 8129239 09/22/2015 1,182.59 
13085 MADISON TREASURER, CITY OF PIT-UNIV.BAY DR.-TRACKS 8129240 09/22/2015 22.36 
13085 MADISON TREASURER, CITY OF PIT-MAPLE TER.-LOCUST 8129241 09/22/2015 12,567.18 

16,908.57   *

          Total 600-53-0610-601 16,908.57 

600-53-0620-220 WATER DEPARTMENT FUND - WATER: WAGES AND BENEFITS - 600-53-0620 - POWER FOR PUMPING
13040 MADISON GAS & ELECTRIC 3302 BLACKH, 3561 TALLY HO 40319642 10/08/2015 1,014.06 

          Total WATER: WAGES AND BENEFITS 17,922.63 

          Total 600-53-0620-220 1,014.06 

          Total WATER DEPARTMENT FUND 17,922.63 

          Grand Total: 111,574.54 















































VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD HILLS 
DANE COUNTY WISCONSIN 

 
ORDINANCE NO. L-2015-2 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 7.08(2) OF THE VILLAGE CODE OF 

ORDINANCES RELATING TO PARKING  
 
 The Village Board of the Village of Shorewood Hills, Dane County, 
Wisconsin, ordains as follows:  
 

1. Section 7.08(2) of the Municipal Code of the Village of Shorewood Hills is 
amended as follows:  

 
7.08 Parking, Stopping, and Standing Regulated. 

 
(2) No parking. No owner or operator of a motor vehicle may permit the 
same to stop, to be parked or to be left standing, upon any portion of the 
following streets at the following locations, except temporarily for the 
purpose of and while actually engaged in loading or unloading or in 
receiving or discharging passengers and while the motor vehicle is attended 
by a licensed operator so that it may be promptly be moved in case of an 
emergency or to avoid obstruction of traffic:  
 

• On Beloit Court during the hours of 6:00 am to 7:00 pm (excluding 
Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays) except by resident permit;  

• On the blacktop service road situated east of the Blackhawk Country 
Club clubhouse;  

• On the north side of Blackhawk Drive from its intersection with the 
easterly boundary of Topping Road extended westerly to the easterly 
line of Blackhawk Country Club;  

• On the south side of Blackhawk Drive from its intersection with the 
westerly boundary of Topping Road westerly 240 feet to a point on 
the north property line of lot 163, third addition to Shorewood;  

• On the easterly side of Bowdoin Road, from Amherst Drive to 
Oxford Road;  

• On the north and south sides of Colgate Road, from the University 
Bay Drive intersection to 65.2 feet west of the east property line 
extended of lot 4, block 18, of the Beloit Court Replat;  

• On both sides of Columbia Road from the intersection of University 
Bay Drive to the intersection of Wellesley Road between the hours 



of 6:00 am and 7:00 pm (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and 
holidays) except by resident permit;  

• On the north side of Columbia Road, from the westerly line 
extended of lot 27, block 6, replat of College Hills First Addition to 
the easterly line extended of lot 29, block 6, replat of College Hills 
First addition;  

• On the west side of Columbia Road from its intersection with 
Amherst Drive to Purdue Street;  

• On the west side of Cornell Court, north from the south lot line of lot 
one, block 15, Replat of College Hills and College Hills First 
Addition, to the north lot line of lot 9, block 15, Replat of College 
Hills and College Hills First Addition, during the hours of 6:00 am 
to 7:00 pm (excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays) except by 
resident permit;   

• On both sides of Edgehill Drive from Crestwood Drive to Viburnum 
Drive;  

• On the east side of Edgehill Drive from the southerly lot line 
extended of lot 137, Shorewood Second Addition northerly to Lake 
Mendota Drive;  

• On the east side of Edgehill Drive from the midpoint of lot 253, 
Fourth Addition, to a point ten (10) feet south of the southern line of 
lot 258, Fourth Addition;  

• On the east side of Edgehill Drive from a point ten (10) feet north of 
the southern line of lot 266, Fourth Addition, to a point twenty-five 
(25) feet south of the southern line of lot 268, Fourth Addition;  

• On the westerly side of Edgehill Drive from the intersection with 
Topping Road, northerly to the intersection with Blackhawk Drive 
and Shorewood Boulevard;  

• On both sides of Harvard Drive, from the easterly edge extended of 
Outlot "D" Post Farm, east to a point opposite the westerly line 
extended of lot 19, block 19, Replat of College Hills and College 
Hills First Addition, and, on the south side of Harvard Drive, from 
the south lot line extended of lot 9, block 15, Replat of College Hills 
and College Hills First Addition, north and northeasterly around lot 
10 to the intersection of Harvard Drive and University Bay Drive;  

• On the north side of the 2700 block of Harvard Drive during the 
hours of 6:00 am to 7:00 pm (excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and 
holidays) except by resident permit;  

• On the north side of Lake Mendota Drive from a point opposite the 
easterly boundary of the 16th tee of the Blackhawk Country Club, 
westerly to the westerly boundary of the Village;  



• On the north side of Lake Mendota Drive from the east line extended 
of lot 3, block 4, Shorewood, to the west line extended of lot 6, 
block 3, Shorewood;  

• On the south side of Lake Mendota Drive from the westernmost 
boundary of lot 131, second addition to Shorewood, to the midpoint 
of lot 132, second addition to Shorewood;   

• On the north side and the south side of Locust Drive from the 
intersection with Shorewood Boulevard westerly to the intersection 
with the westernmost boundary of Maple Terrace extended;  

• On the east side of Maple Terrace and Burbank Place;  
• On the west side of Maple Terrace and Burbank Place between the 

hours of 9:00 am and 11:00 am (excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and 
holidays);  

• On the north and west sides of Oak Way, from the westerly edge 
extended from lot 218 of the Third Addition to a point opposite the 
northerly line extended of the southern portion of partial lot 14, First 
Addition;  

• On south side of Oxford Road from its intersection with Dartmouth 
Road to its intersection with University Bay Drive during the hours 
of 8:00 am to 3:00 pm (excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and 
holidays);  

• On the north side of Oxford Road, from University Bay Drive 
westerly to Bowdoin Road;  

• Post Farm Park or the community center parking lot, except for the 
use of the swimming pool, the community center, or the Post Farm 
Park;  

• On the south side of Purdue Street;  
• On the north side of that portion of Rose Place running in an east-

west direction from its intersection with the west line of Fern Drive 
extended to the east line of the north-south section of Rose Place 
extended;  

• On the east side of Shorewood Boulevard between the southerly 
limits of the Village and the northerly limits of the east Entrance 
Park and on the west side between the southerly limits of the Village 
and the intersection with Topping Road;  

• On the east side of Sumac Drive along its entire length;  
• On the east side of Swarthmore Court;  
• On the north side of Tally Ho Lane from its intersection with 

Shorewood Boulevard to its intersection with Highbury Road 
between the hours of 7:30 am and 6:00 pm;  

• On the south side of Topping Road, along the northern boundary of 
Outlot "C" westerly to the intersection with Blackhawk Drive;  



• On the north side of Topping Road from the easterly line extended 
of lot 168, Shorewood third addition, westerly to its intersection with 
Blackhawk Drive;  

• On the east side of University Bay Drive from the intersection with 
Colgate Road, southerly to the intersection with University Avenue;  

• On west side of University Bay Drive from a point at the northeast 
corner of the Unitarian Church property on University Bay Drive to 
its intersection with Highland Avenue;  

• On the west side of University Bay Drive, from 918 University Bay 
Drive north to its intersection with Oxford Road,  Harvard Drive 
during the hours of 6:00 am to 7:00 pm (excluding Saturdays, 
Sundays and holidays), except by resident permit;  

• On the easterly side of Yale Road from its intersection with Harvard 
Drive to its intersection with Columbia Road.; and  

• From the southwest corner of the intersection of University Bay 
Drive and Harvard Drive running 100 feet south on the west side of 
University Bay Drive. 

 
2. This Ordinance shall take effect upon passage and publication pursuant to 

law. 
 

The above and foregoing ordinance was duly adopted by the Village Board 
of the Village of Shorewood Hills at its meeting held on ____________________, 
2015.   
 

APPROVED:  
 
 
______________________________  
Mark Sundquist, Village President 
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
____________________________  
Colleen Albrecht, Village Clerk 

Formatted: Font color: Red,
Strikethrough

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Deleted: d



ORDINANCE NO. L-2015-5 
 

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD HILLS 
DANE COUNTY, WISCONSIN 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 13 
OF THE VILLAGE CODE OF ORDINANCES 

RELATING TO CROSS CONNECTION CONTROL 
AND BACKFLOW PREVENTION. 

 
 

The Village Board of the Village of Shorewood Hills, Dane County, Wisconsin, does 
adopts the following ordinance adding to Section 13.06 Cross Connection Control and Backflow 
Prevention as described in Exhibit A: 

 
 
The foregoing ordinance was duly adopted by the Village Board of the Village of 

Shorewood Hills at a meeting held on the ______ day of ___________________, 2015. 
 
 

APPROVED: 
 
 
       
   Mark Sundquist, Village President 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
       
   Colleen Albrecht, Village Clerk 

S:\Admin Data\Board of Trustees\Ordinances\2015\05 cross connection ordinance.doc 



Exhibit A 
 
13.06 Cross Connection Control and Backflow Prevention 

(1) Purpose. The purpose of this ordinance is: 

(a) To protect the health and welfare of users of the public potable water 
supply of Village of Shorewood Hills from the possibility of 
contamination or pollution of the potable water system(s) under the direct 
authority of the Village of Shorewood Hills Public Water Utility. 

(b) To promote for the control and/or elimination of existing cross 
connections (actual or potential) between the customer’s potable water 
system(s) and other environment(s) containing substance(s) which may 
contaminate or pollute the water supply. 

(c) To provide for the maintenance of a continuing Comprehensive Program 
of Cross Connection Control which will systematically and effectively 
prevent the contamination or pollution of all potable water system(s) under 
the direct authority of the Village of Shorewood Hills Public Water Utility. 

(2) Definitions 

(a) Backflow. The undesirable flow of water or mixtures of water and other 
liquids, solids gases or other substances under positive or reduced pressure 
into the Village of Shorewood Hills Water Utility potable supply of water 
from any source. 

(b) Backflow Prevention. A means designed to prevent backflow caused by 
backpressure or backsiphonage; most commonly categorized as air gap, 
reduced pressure principle backflow assembly, double check valve 
assembly, pressure vacuum breaker assembly, backsiphonage backflow 
vacuum breaker (spill resistant pressure vacuum breaker) assembly, pipe 
applied atmospheric vacuum breaker, flush tank ballcock, laboratory 
faucet backflow preventer, backflow preventer for carbonated beverage 
machine, vacuum breaker wall hydrants, (freeze resistant automatic 
draining type), chemical dispensing machine, hose connection vacuum 
breaker, hose connection backflow preventer, backflow preventer with 
intermediate atmospheric vent and barometric loop. 

(c) Backpressure. An elevation of pressure in the downstream piping system 
(i.e. Pump, elevation of piping, or steam and/or air pressure) above the 
utility supply pressure, which would cause or tend a reversal of the normal 
direction of flow. 

(d) Backsiphonage. The flow of water or other liquids, mixtures or 
substances into the utility’s potable water system from any source caused 
by the sudden reduction of pressure in the utility’s potable water supply 
system. 

S:\Admin Data\Board of Trustees\Ordinances\2015\05 cross connection ordinance.doc 



(e) Cross Connection. Any physical connection or arrangement between two 
otherwise separate systems, one of which contains potable water from the 
utility, and the other containing water from a private source, water of 
unknown or questionable safety, or steam, gases or chemicals, whereby 
there may be a flow from one system to the other, the direction of flow 
depending on the pressure differential between the two systems. 

(f) Cross Connection Control Manual. Policies and procedures for cross 
connection control and backflow prevention for the Village of Friendship. 

(3) Cross Connection Prohibited. No person shall establish or permit to be 
established or maintain or permit to be maintained any cross connection. No 
interconnection shall be established whereby potable water from a private, 
auxiliary or emergency water supply, other than the public water supply of the 
utility, unless such private, auxiliary or emergency water supply and the method 
of connection and use of such supply have been approved by the utility and the 
Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources. 

(4) Responsibility. The Village of Shorewood Hills shall be responsible for the 
protection of the public potable water distribution system from contamination or 
pollution due to backflow of contaminants or pollutants. The utility shall charge 
fees according to the utility’s “Cross Connection Control Manual” for maintaining 
a Comprehensive Cross Connection Control Protection Plan. 

(5) Owner Responsibility. The property owner shall be responsible for the 
protection of the customer’s potable water system. The responsibilities include the 
elimination of or protection from all cross connections on their premises. The 
owner shall, at their own expense, install, maintain and test any and all backflow 
preventers on their premises in compliance with the Department of Safety & 
Professional Services 382.21 requirements and the utility’s “Cross Connection 
Control Manual”. The property owner shall have corrected any malfunction 
revealed by periodic testing of any backflow preventer on their premises. The 
property owner shall inform the utility of any proposed or modified cross 
connections and also any existing cross connections that are not protected by an 
approved backflow prevention means. The property owner shall not install a by-
pass around any backflow preventer unless there is a backflow preventer of the 
same type in the by-pass. Property owners who cannot shut down operation for 
testing of the backflow prevention assembly must supply additional assemblies 
necessary to allow testing and maintenance to take place. In the event the property 
owner installs potable water using fixtures, equipment or appurtenances upstream 
of a backflow preventer, such must have its own approved backflow prevention 
means. The property owner is required to follow the protection practices 
described in the American Water Works Association publication AWWA M-14 
titled “Recommended Backflow Prevention and Cross Connection Control”, 
United States Environmental Protection Agency publication titled “Cross 
Connection Control Manual”, Wisconsin Department of Safety & Professional 
Services Plumbing Code, 382-384 and the utility’s “Cross Connection Control 
Manual”, unless the utility requires or authorizes other means of protecting the 

S:\Admin Data\Board of Trustees\Ordinances\2015\05 cross connection ordinance.doc 



potable water supply system. These requirements or authorizations will be at the 
discretion of the utility. 

(6) Inspections. It shall be the duty of the utility to cause surveys to be made of all 
properties serviced by the utility where cross connections with the public water 
system is deemed possible. Residential properties serviced by the utility shall be 
surveyed on a 10-year interval. The utility may, but is not required to, perform the 
cross connection survey of the customer’s property. If, in the opinion of the utility, 
the utility is not able to perform the survey, the property owner must, at their own 
expense, have the water system piping surveyed for cross connections by a person 
who has been properly trained in accordance with the American Society of 
Sanitary Engineers (ASSE) Standard number 5120 as a Cross Connection Control 
Surveyor. All non-residential properties serviced by the utility shall be surveyed 
on an interval not exceeding 2 years. The utility may, but is not required to, 
perform the cross connection control survey of the customer’s property. If, in the 
opinion of the utility, the utility is not able to perform the survey, the property 
owner must, at their own expense, have the water piping system surveyed for 
cross connections by a person who has been properly trained in accordance with 
the American Society of Sanitary Engineers (ASSE) Standard number 5120 as a 
Cross Connection Control Surveyor. The frequency of required surveys and 
resurveys, based upon the potential health hazards, may be shortened by the utility. 

(7) Right of Entry. Upon presentation of credentials, representatives of the utility 
shall have the right to request entry at any reasonable time to examine property 
served by a connection to the public potable water system of the utility for cross 
connections. If entry is refused, such representatives shall obtain a special 
inspection warrant under s.66.122, Wisconsin Statutes. The utility shall charge the 
property owner a fee of per day for refusal to allow entry to examine any property. 
Upon request, the owner, lessee or occupant of any property served shall furnish 
to the inspection agency any pertinent information regarding the piping system on 
such property. 

(8) Authority to Discontinue Service. The utility is hereby authorized and directed 
to discontinue water service to any property wherein any connection in violation 
of this section exists and to take such other precautionary measures deemed 
necessary to eliminate any damage of contamination of the potable water system. 
Water service shall be discontinued if the means of backflow prevention required 
by the utility is not installed, tested, maintained and/or repaired in compliance 
with this ordinance, the Department of Safety & Professional Services Plumbing 
Code 382-384 and the utility’s “Cross Connection Control Manual”, or if it is 
found that the means of backflow prevention required by this ordinance has been 
removed or bypassed. Water service shall be discontinued only after reasonable 
notice and opportunity for hearing under Chapter 68, Wisconsin Statutes, except 
as provided in subsection (9) of this section. 

(9) Reconnection of Service. Water service to any property disconnected under 
provisions of this ordinance shall not be restored until the cross connection(s) has 
been eliminated or a backflow prevention means approved by the utility has been 

S:\Admin Data\Board of Trustees\Ordinances\2015\05 cross connection ordinance.doc 



S:\Admin Data\Board of Trustees\Ordinances\2015\05 cross connection ordinance.doc 

installed in compliance with the provisions of this section. 

(10) Emergency Discontinuance of Service. If it is determined by the utility that a 
cross connection or an emergency endangers public health safety or welfare and 
requires immediate action, service may be immediately discontinued. The owner, 
lessee or occupant shall have an opportunity for hearing under Chapter 68, 
Wisconsin Statutes within 10 days of such emergency discontinuance. Such 
hearing shall be before the Village of Shorewood Hills and shall conform to all 
existing due process requirements. 

(11) Plumbing Code. The Village of Shorewood Hills adopts by reference the 
Wisconsin State Plumbing Code being Chapter SPS 382-384, Wisconsin 
Administrative Code. This section does not supersede the Wisconsin Uniform 
Plumbing Code and/or the Village of Shorewood Hills Ordinance No. , but is 
supplementary to it. 



 
 

Bathrooms 
& 

Kitchens 

 
 
 
PUBLIC AWARENESS: 
 
CROSS  
CONNECTION  
CONTROL 
 

Did you know … 
Your water can become contaminated if connections to your 
plumbing system are not properly protected?  
 
The purpose of the local Cross Connection Program, as 
required by State Plumbing Code and Regulations, is to 
ensure everyone in the community has safe, clean drinking 
water. 

It’s Public Safety… 
To avoid contamination, backflow preventers are required by 
state plumbing codes wherever there is an actual or potential 
hazard for a cross connection. The Wisconsin Department of 
Natural Resources requires all public water suppliers to main-
tain an on-going Cross Connection Control Program involving 
public education, onsite inspections, and possible corrective 
actions by building owners. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Hydro Designs, Inc. 

WI Dept. Safety & Professional & Professional Services: 
www.dsps.wi.gov/sb/ 
WI Dept. of Natural Resources: 
www.dnr.wi.gov 
Environmental Protection Agency: 
www.epa.gov 
WI Cross Connection Control Resources: 
www.hydrocorpinc.com 

Shorew
ood H

ills W
ater U

tility 
8

1
0

 Shorew
ood B

oulevard 
M

adison, W
I 5

37
0

5
-2

1
1

5
 

Shorewood Hills Water Utility 
810 Shorewood Boulevard 
Madison, WI 53705-2115 
www.shorewood-hills.org 
608-267-2680 



In the Kitchen  

Hoses and water treatment devices may create a 
potential backflow hazard if not properly isolated 
with backflow prevention devices or methods. 

In the Bathroom - Hand Held 
Shower 

• The hand held shower fixture is compliant if: 
When the shower hose head is hanging freely, 
it is at least 1 inch above the top of the flood 
level rim of the receptor (tub). 

• Complies with ASSE # 1014.. 

• Has the ASME code 112.18.1 stamped on the 
handle. 

What is Cross Connection? 
A cross connection is an actual or potential connection between the safe drinking water (potable) supply and source of 
contamination or pollution. State plumbing codes require approved back-flow prevention devices, assemblies, or other 
methods to be installed at every point of potable water connection and use. Cross Connections must be properly  
protected or eliminated. 

How does contamination occur? 
When you turn on a faucet, you expect the water to be as safe as when it left the treatment plant. However, certain  
hydraulic conditions left unprotected within your plumbing system may allow hazardous substances to enter and  
contaminate your own drinking water or even the public water supply. Water normally flows in one direction to your  
faucet. However under certain conditions, water can actually flow backwards; this is known as Backflow. There are  
two situations that can cause Backflow: back siphonage and back pressure. 

Back Siphonage: 
May occur due to a loss of pressure in the municipal water supply such as from a water main break. 

Back Pressure: 
May occur when a source (such as a boiler) creates a greater pressure than the incoming water pressure. 

In the Bathroom—Toilet Tanks 
There are many unapproved toilet tank fill valve 
products sold at common retailers which do not meet 
the state plumbing code requirements for backflow 
prevention. 

• Look for the ASSE #1002 Standard symbol on 
device and packaging. 

• Replace any unapproved devices with an ASSE 
#1002 approved anti siphon ball-cock assembly. 
Average cost for this do-it-yourself-type device 
available at home improvement stores is $8 to 
$22. 

• Verify overflow tube is one inch below critical 
level (CL) marking on device. 

Do... 
• Keep the ends of hoses clear of all possible 

contaminants. 
• Make sure dishwashers are installed with the 

proper “air gap” device. 
• Verify hose bibb vacuum breaker on all 

threaded faucets around your home. 
• Make sure water treatment devices such as 

water softeners have the proper “air gap”, which 
is a minimum of one inch above the drain.  

 

Don’t... 
• Submerge hoses in buckets, pools, tubs, sinks, 

ponds or automobile radiators. 
• Use spray attachments without an approved 

backflow prevention device. 
• Connect drain pipes from water softeners or 

other treatment systems directly to the sewer 
drain. Always be sure there is a one inch “air 
gap” separation. 

      ASSE #1011 Vacuum Breaker 



VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD HILLS 
DANE COUNTY WISCONSIN 

 
ORDINANCE NO. L-2015-6 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 7.08(2) AND 7.08(4) OF THE VILLAGE CODE OF 

ORDINANCES RELATING TO PARKING 
 
 The Village Board of the Village of Shorewood Hills, Dane County, Wisconsin, 
ordains as follows:  
 
1. Section 7.08(2) and 7.08(4) of the Municipal Code of the Village of Shorewood 

Hills is amended as follows (added text is red, deleted text is stricken out, 
[highlighted] text is for reference only): 

 
7.08  Parking, Stopping, and Standing Regulated. 

(1) Maximum time.  No owner or operator of a motor vehicle or trailer may permit 
the same to be parked upon any highway, street or alley for a period of time in 
excess of twenty-four hours without moving or causing the same to be moved. 

(2) No parking.  No owner or operator of a motor vehicle may permit the same to 
stop, to be parked or to be left standing, upon any portion of the following streets 
at the following locations, except temporarily for the purpose of and while 
actually engaged in loading or unloading or in receiving or discharging 
passengers and while the motor vehicle is attended by a licensed operator so that 
it may be promptly be moved in case of an emergency or to avoid obstruction of 
traffic: 

• On the west side of Beloit Court; 
• On east side of Beloit Court during the hours of 6:00 am to 7:00 pm 

(excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays) except by resident permit; 
• On the blacktop service road situated east of the Blackhawk Country Club 

clubhouse; 
• On the north side of Blackhawk Drive from its intersection with the easterly 

boundary of Topping Road extended westerly to the easterly line of 
Blackhawk Country Club; 

• On the south side of Blackhawk Drive from its intersection with the westerly 
boundary of Topping Road westerly 240 feet to a point on the north property 
line of lot 163 [3601 Blackhawk Drive], third addition to Shorewood; 

• On the south side of Blackhawk Drive from the west property line extended of 
lot 46, Shorewood First Addition [hydrant in front of 3611 Sunset Drive] to 
the south property line extended of lot 46, Shorewood First Addition [3611 
Sunset Drive]. 

• On the north side of Blackhawk Drive from a point 25 feet east of the west 
property line extended of lot 119 [3610 Sunset Drive], Shorewood Second 

Page 1 of 6 



Addition to the blacktop service road situated east of the Blackhawk Country 
Club clubhouse; 

• On the easterly side of Bowdoin Road, from Amherst Drive to Oxford Road; 
• On the north and south sides of Colgate Road, from the University Bay Drive 

intersection to 65.2 feet west of the east property line extended of lot 4, block 
18, of the Beloit Court Replat; 

• On the north side of Circle Close from Blackhawk Drive to the throat of the 
island turnaround.  

• On both sides of Columbia Road from the intersection of University Bay 
Drive to the intersection of Wellesley Road between the hours of 6:00 am and 
7:00 pm (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and holidays) except by resident 
permit; 

• On the north side of Columbia Road, from the westerly line extended of lot 
27, block 6, replat of College Hills First Addition to the easterly line extended 
of lot 29, block 6, replat of College Hills First addition; 

• On the west side of Columbia Road from it intersection with Amherst Drive to 
Purdue Street; 

• On the west side of Cornell Court, north from the south lot line of lot one, 
block 15, Replat of College Hills and College Hills First Addition, to the north 
lot line of lot 9, block 15, Replat of College Hills and College Hills First 
Addition, during the hours of 6:00 am to 7:00 pm (excluding Saturdays, 
Sundays, and holidays) except by resident permit; 

• On the north side of Crestwood Drive from Sunset Drive to the easterly line 
extended of lot 108 [3435 Edgehill Pkwy], Shorewood Second Addition; 

• On the east side of Dartmouth Road from Columbia Road to 125 feet north of 
the Dartmouth/Columbia intersection; 

• On both sides of Edgehill Drive from Crestwood Drive to Viburnum Drive; 
• On the east side of Edgehill Drive from the southerly lot line extended of lot 

137, Shorewood Second Addition northerly to Lake Mendota Drive; 
• On the east side of Edgehill Drive from the midpoint of lot 253, Fourth 

Addition, to a point ten (10) feet south of the southern line of lot 258, Fourth 
Addition; 

• On the east side of Edgehill Drive from a point ten (10) feet  north of the 
southern line of lot 266, Fourth Addition, to a point twenty-five (25) feet 
south of the southern line of lot 268, Fourth Addition; 

• On the westerly side of Edgehill Drive from the intersection with Topping 
Road, northerly to the intersection with Blackhawk Drive and Shorewood 
Boulevard; 

• On both sides of Harvard Drive, from the easterly edge extended of Outlot 
"D" Post Farm, east to a point opposite the westerly line extended of lot 19, 
block 19, Replat of College Hills and College Hills First Addition, and, on the 
south side of Harvard Drive, from the south lot line extended of lot 9, block 
15, Replat of College Hills and College Hills First Addition, north and 
northeasterly around lot 10 to the intersection of Harvard Drive and 
University Bay Drive; 

Page 2 of 6 



• On the north side of the 2700 block of Harvard Drive during the hours of 6:00 
am to 7:00 pm  (excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays)  except by 
resident permit; 

• On High Close; 
• On Higbury Road from Tally Ho Lane to Topping Road; 
• On the north side of Lake Mendota Drive from a point opposite the easterly 

boundary of the 16th tee of the Blackhawk Country Club, westerly to the 
westerly boundary of the Village; 

• On the north side of Lake Mendota Drive from the east line extended of lot 3, 
block 4, Shorewood, to the west line extended of lot 6, block 3, Shorewood; 

• On the south side of Lake Mendota Drive from the westernmost boundary of 
lot 131, second addition to Shorewood, to the midpoint of lot 132, second 
addition to Shorewood; 

• On the north side and the south side of Locust Drive from the intersection 
with Shorewood Boulevard westerly to the intersection with the westernmost 
boundary of Maple Terrace extended; 

• On the east side of Maple Terrace and Burbank Place; 
• On the west side of Maple Terrace and Burbank Place between the hours of 

9:00 am and 11:00 am (excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays); 
• On the north and west sides of Oak Way, from the westerly edge extended 

from lot 218 of the Third Addition to a point opposite the northerly line 
extended of the southern portion of partial lot 14, First Addition; 

• On south side of Oxford Road from its intersection with Dartmouth Road to 
its intersection with University Bay Drive during the hours of 8:00 am to 3:00 
pm (excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays); 

• On the north side of Oxford Road, from University Bay Drive westerly to 
Bowdoin Road; 

• Post Farm Park or the community center parking lot, except for the use of the 
swimming pool, the community center, or the Post Farm Park; 

• On the south side of Purdue Street; 
• On the north side of that portion of Rose Place running in an east-west 

direction from its intersection with the west line of Fern Drive extended to the 
east line of the north-south section of Rose Place extended; 

• On the east side of Shorewood Boulevard between the southerly limits of the 
Village and the northerly limits of the east Entrance Park and on the west side 
between the southerly limits of the Village and the intersection with Topping 
Road; 

• On the east side of Sumac Drive along its entire length; 
• On the east side of Swarthmore Court; 
• On the north side of Tally Ho Lane from its intersection with Shorewood 

Boulevard to its intersection with Highbury Road between the hours of 7:30 
am and 6:00 pm the throat of the island turnaround; 

• On the south side of Topping Road, along the northern boundary of Outlot 
"C" westerly to the intersection with Blackhawk Drive; 

• On the north side of Topping Road from the easterly line extended of lot 168, 

Page 3 of 6 



Shorewood third addition, westerly to its intersection with Blackhawk Drive; 
• On the east side of University Bay Drive from the intersection with Colgate 

Road, southerly to the intersection with University Avenue; 
• On west side of University Bay Drive from a point at the northeast corner of 

the Unitarian Church property on University Bay Drive to its intersection with 
Highland Avenue; 

• On the west side of University Bay Drive, from 918 University Bay Drive 
north to its intersection with Oxford Road during the hours of 6:00 am to 7:00 
pm (excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays)  except by resident permit; 

• On the south side of Viburnum Drive; 
• On the east side of Western Road; 
• On the easterly side of Yale Road from its intersection with Harvard Drive to 

its intersection with Columbia Road.; and 
• From the southwest corner of the intersection of University Bay Drive and 

Harvard Drive running 100 feet south on the west side of University Bay 
Drive. 

(3) No Parking Contrary to Sign.  No owner or operator of a motor vehicle may 
permit the same to stop, to be parked, or to be left standing upon any street 
contrary to any signs posted by the police chief or any police officer.  Such a sign 
may be placed whenever the police chief or any police officer on duty deems it 
necessary for the safety of traffic at any point within fifty feet of any intersection 
of any streets; where free space is necessary for the turning of buses or other 
vehicles; when the open traveled portion of a street is narrowed by excessive 
snow; whenever hazardous conditions are created by construction operations, fire, 
or other casualty; or whenever any celebration or other cause for the assembly of 
crowds, or the orderly handling of large amounts of traffic may require limitation 
of parking on a street. 

(4) Stopping prohibited in certain specified areas.  No owner or operator of any 
vehicle may permit the same to stop, to be parked, or to be left standing, whether 
attended or unattended and whether temporarily or otherwise, at any of the 
following places: 

(a) On the north side of University Avenue from the easterly boundary to the 
westerly boundary of the Village; 

(b) On the school side of Shorewood Boulevard, Bowdoin Road, Amherst 
Drive and Columbia Road adjacent to the Shorewood Hills School 
between the hours of 7:30 am and 4:30 pm during school days, except for 
the following designated loading zones: 

1. The school side of Columbia from its intersection with Amherst to 
a point of intersection with the school parking lot access drive; and 

2. On the school side of Shorewood Boulevard from a point 365 feet 
north of its intersection with Harvard Drive and continuing north 
350 feet; 

Page 4 of 6 



(c) Abutting the island in the turnaround at the westerly end of Tally Ho Lane 
in front of the properties with street addresses of 3555, 3562, 3565, 3568, 
and 3570 Tally Ho Lane; 

(d) Abutting the island in the turnaround at the easterly end of Tally Ho Lane 
in front of the properties with street addresses of 3403, 3404, 3407, 3408, 
3409, 3410 Circle Close; 

(d) (e) On the east side of Swarthmore Court between May 25th and September 
9th of each year; and 

(e) (f) On the north side of Purdue Street. 

(g) At all intersection islands to 25 feet past the apex at the following 
intersections: 

1. Dartmouth/Oxford Roads; 
2. Sweetbriar/Oxford Roads; 
3. University Bay Drive/Oxford Road; 
4. University Bay Drive/Columbia Road; 
5. University Bay Drive/Harvard Drive; 
6. Harvard Drive/Cornell Court; 
7. Harvard Drive/Beloit Court; 
8. Colgate/Dartmouth Roads; 
9. Colgate/Yale Roads; 
10. Wood Lane/Lake Mendota Drive; 
11. Sunset/Sumac Drives; 
12. Sunset/Viburnum Drives; 

(5) Two-Hour Parking. 

(a) Two-Hour Parking Zone.  A Two-Hour Parking Zone is established.  The 
Two-Hour Parking Zone consists of all residential streets, except for (i) 
Blackhawk Drive from Topping Road to the easterly edge extended of lot 
2, First Addition, and (ii) Sunset Drive from Blackhawk Drive to 
Crestwood Drive.  The Two-Hour Parking Zone also excludes portions of 
streets (i) where parking is prohibited or restricted as provided at section 
7.08 (2), (ii) where stopping is prohibited as provided at section 7.08 (4), 
or (iii) that are in the One-Hour Zone as provided at section 7.08 (6). 

(a) Parking Hours.  Except as provided at section 7.09, no owner or operator 
of a motor vehicle may permit the same to be parked or left standing 
within or upon the Two-Hour Parking Zone for a period of more than two 
consecutive hours at any time between the hours of 6:00 am and 7:00 pm 
(excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays). 

(6) One-Hour Parking. 

(a) One-Hour Parking Zone.  A One-Hour Parking Zone is established.  The 
One-Hour Parking Zone consists of the following highways or portions of 
highways:  Dartmouth Road between Columbia and Colgate Roads, 

Page 5 of 6 



Page 6 of 6 

Colgate Road, the east side of Cornell Court, Harvard Drive from 
Swarthmore Court east to the one-way zone, Wellesley Road, and Fern 
Drive. 

(b) Parking Hours.  Except as provided at section 7.09, no owner or operator 
of a motor vehicle may permit the same to be parked or left standing 
within or upon the One-Hour Parking Zone for a period of more than one 
hour at any time between the hours of 6:00 am and 7:00 pm (excluding 
Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays). 

(7) Moving of a Motor Vehicle Within A Parking Zone.  No person may move a 
motor vehicle from a parking space in the One-Hour Parking Zone or in the Two-
Hour Parking Zone to a second parking space in either Zone unless after the 
motor vehicle was moved from the first parking space the motor vehicle was 
removed from both Zones for at least 30 minutes before the motor vehicle was 
parked in the second parking space. 

(8) Tampering With Marks on Tires.  No person may alter, erase, remove, 
obliterate, or tamper with any mark placed on a tire of a vehicle by a Village 
police officer or community service officer.  This provision does not apply to a 
person who removes such a mark by driving the vehicle if that person complies 
with all other parking laws. 

(9) No Parking without Current or Valid Registration.  No motor vehicle 
requiring registration shall be parked on any public street or any property owned 
by the Village of Shorewood Hills; while within the corporate limits of 
Shorewood Hills, Dane county, Wisconsin, without a current or valid registration. 
Any vehicle in violation of said ordinance will require a forfeiture of $25.00 
within the first seven days and a fine of $40.00 thereafter. 

2. This Ordinance shall take effect upon passage and publication pursuant to law. 
 

The above and foregoing ordinance was duly adopted by the Village Board of the 
Village of Shorewood Hills at its meeting held on ____________________, 2015.   
 

APPROVED:  
 
 
       
  Mark Sundquist, Village President 
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
       
  Colleen Albrecht, Village Clerk 



Village of Shorewood Hills
Potential Parking Configuration Changes
10/16/2015

**Resident with permits are allowed 24‐hour parking on streets
**Streets with no proposed change are not listed

Parking side criteria used
Base assumption is that more parking is better

Affected Streets Potential Parking Location Comments Current Ordinance
Dead Ends

Beloit Court East side parking
No driveways on east, west driveways are steep, 
but far away

Permit, both sides

Circle Close, street Odd side parking Dead end street, hydrant is on even side 2 hour, both sides

Circle Close, cul de sac Outside of bulb parking Outside of bulb has more capacity for parking 2 hour, both sides

Cornell Court Odd side parking Dead end street, hydrants are on even side Permit, both sides

High Close No parking 2 hour, both sides

Tally Ho Lane (Highbury to cul de 
sac)

Odd side parking
Hydrants are on even side, many areas already 
prohibit even side

2 hour, both sides

Through Streets < 24 feet wide
Crestwood Drive (3435/3433 
Crestwood to Sunset)

Odd side parking
Drives are equal, but odd side has steep 
driveways and hydrants on even side

2 hour, both sides

Tally Ho Lane (Highbury to 
Shorewood)

Odd side parking
Hydrants are on even side, many areas already 
prohibit even side

2 hour, both sides

1. Where is more space available, either due to fewer driveways, narrower driveways, or more clustered driveways?
2. Are there any sight constraints due to curving streets (preference for being on outside of curve)?
3. Are mailboxes predominantly on one side?  Can they be combined to be opposite parking?
4. Are there steep driveways on either side, potentially creating a problem in icy conditions (cars leaving driveways sliding into parked 
cars)?
5. Are steep grades (either cliffs or dropoffs) present that would make parking difficult?

J:\JOB#S\Shorewood Hills\SH‐52‐21\Admin\Proposed changes 10/16/2015



Affected Streets Potential Parking Location Comments Current Ordinance

Viburnum Drive Even side parking
More clustered drives on even, also on outside 
of curve

2 hour, both sides

Western Road Even side parking Big grade dropoff on odd side 2 hour, both sides

Dartmouth Road (Columbia to 125 
feet north)

Even side parking Large oak tree narrows street 2 hour, both sides

Highbury Road (Tally Ho ‐ Topping) No parking 2 hour, both sides

Within 25 feet of Intersection Triangles
Dartmouth/Oxford No parking
Sweetbriar/Oxford No parking

University Bay/Oxford No parking
University Bay/Columbia No parking
University Bay/Harvard No parking

Harvard/Cornell No parking
Harvard/Beloit No parking

Colgate/Dartmouth No parking
Colgate/Yale No parking

Wood/Oxford No parking
Sunset/Sumac No parking

Sunset/Viburnum No parking
Tight curves
Blackhawk Drive (north edge of 90‐
deg stalls to west lot line at 3610 
Sunset)

No parking Sharp horizontal curve 2 hour, both sides

J:\JOB#S\Shorewood Hills\SH‐52‐21\Admin\Proposed changes 10/16/2015



1015151539 

ORDINANCE NO. L 2015-7 
 

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD HILLS 
DANE COUNTY, WISCONSIN 

 
AN ORDINANCE CHANGING THE ZONING CLASSIFICATION OF PROPERTY 

LOCATED AT 4610 UNIVERSITY AVENUE 
FROM C-2 (P) COMMERCIAL DISTRICT (PLANNED OVERLAY) 

TO A PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD) DISTRICT 
 

RECITALS 
 

1. Flad Development & Investment Corp. (the “Applicant”), has requested 
that the zoning classification of the property described in Exhibit A (the “Property”) be 
changed to Planned Unit Development (“PUD”).   

2. The Planned Unit Development District is intended to provide a voluntary 
regulatory framework designed to encourage and promote improved environmental and 
aesthetic design in the Village by allowing for greater design freedom, imagination and 
flexibility in the development of land while insuring substantial compliance with the 
basic intent of the Village’s Zoning Ordinance and Comprehensive Plan.  Pursuant to 
Wis. Stat. § 62.23(7)(b), the Village may not zone property Planned Unit Development 
District without the consent of the owners. 

3. The Applicant has submitted a General Development Plan (the “GDP”) and 
a Specific Development Plan (the “SDP”) consisting of:  (1) the “Pyare Square 
Redevelopment, 4610 University Avenue, Shorewood Hills, Wisconsin, Plan 
Commission PUD (GDP/SDP Submittal Package, April, 2015)” (the “April Submittal”); 
and, (2) “AMENDMENT 1 (August 2015) to Plan Commission PUD (GDP/SDP) 
Submittal Package (April, 2015) Pyare Square Redevelopment” (the “August 
Submittal”). 

4. For purposes of this Ordinance, the following documents contained in the 
April Submittal, the August Submittal, or both shall be deemed to be the General 
Development Plan (the “GDP”):  

A. Redevelopment introduction letter from Flad Development & 
Investment Corp. to Karl Frantz dated April 7, 2015 with attached 
Project Summary and Project Addendum. 

B. Site Plan, 11 x 17 sheet, numbered C1.4, prepared by Knothe & 
Bruce and Professional Engineering, Pyare Square Project No. 1403, 
Site Plan Review – 08/13/15.  



1015151539 2

C. Exterior Elevations-North Wing West Elevation, 11 x 17 sheet 
numbered A-2.1A, prepared by Knothe & Bruce, Pyare Square 
Project No. 1403, issued April 7, 2015. 

D. Exterior Elevations-South Wing West Elevation, 11 x 17 sheet 
numbered A-2.1B, prepared by Knothe & Bruce, Pyare Square 
Project No. 1403, issued April 7, 2015. 

E. Exterior Elevations-South Wing East Elevation, 11 x 17 sheet 
numbered A-2.2A, prepared by Knothe & Bruce, Pyare Square 
Project No. 1403, issued August 4, 2015. 

F. Exterior Elevations-North Wing East Elevation, 11 x 17 sheet 
numbered A-2.2B, prepared by Knothe & Bruce, Pyare Square 
Project No. 1403, issued April 7, 2015. 

G. Exterior Elevations-South Wing South Elevation and North Wing 
North Elevation, 11 x 17 sheet numbered A-2.3, prepared by Knothe 
& Bruce, Pyare Square Project No. 1403, issued August 4, 2015. 

5. For purposes of this Ordinance, the following documents contained in the 
April Submittal, the August Submittal, or both shall be deemed to be the Specific 
Development Plan (the “SDP”): 

A. Village of Shorewood Hills PUD Rezoning Request by Flad 
Development & Investment Corp. dated April 7, 2015. 

B. Location Map and Aerial photographs, two color pages. 

C. Current Land Use and Zoning Maps by Vierbicher. 

(1) Map 3-1: Existing Land Use (07/23/2009) 

(2) Map 3-2: Future Land Use (07/23/2009) 

D. ALTA / ACSM Land Title Survey prepared by Isthmus Surveying, 
LLC 

Site and Building Plans: 

E. Overall Grading Plan, 11 x 17 sheet, numbered C-2.0, prepared by 
Knothe & Bruce and Professional Engineering, Pyare Square Project 
No. 1403, Site Plan Review - 03/06/15. 



1015151539 3

F. Utility Plan, 11 x 17 sheet, numbered C-3.0, prepared by Knothe & 
Bruce and Professional Engineering, Pyare Square Project No. 1403, 
Site Plan Review - 03/06/15. 

G. South Wing, Basement Floor Plan, 11 x 17 sheet, numbered A-1.0A, 
prepared by Knothe & Bruce, Pyare Square Project No. 1403, issued 
April 7, 2015. 

H. Basement Floor Plan-North Wing Basement Floor Plan, 11 x 17 
sheet, numbered A-1.0B, prepared by Knothe & Bruce, Pyare Square 
Project No. 1403, issued August 4, 2015. 

I. First Floor Plan-South Wing First Floor Plan, 11 x 17 sheet, 
numbered A-1.1A, prepared by Knothe & Bruce, Pyare Square 
Project No. 1403, issued August 4, 2015. 

J. North Wing First Floor Plan, 11 x 17 sheet, numbered A-1.1B, 
prepared by Knothe & Bruce, Pyare Square Project No. 1403, issued 
April 7, 2015. 

K. South Wing Second Floor Plan, 11 x 17 sheet numbered A-1.2A, 
prepared by Knothe & Bruce, Pyare Square Project No. 1403. 

L. North Wing Second Floor Plan, 11 x 17 sheet numbered A-1.2B, 
prepared by Knothe & Bruce, Pyare Square Project No. 1403, issued 
April 7, 2015. 

M. South Wing Third Floor Plan, 11 x 17 sheet numbered A-1.3A, 
prepared by Knothe & Bruce, Pyare Square Project No. 1403, issued 
April 7, 2015. 

N. North Wing Third Floor Plan, 11 x 17 sheet numbered A-1.3B, 
prepared by Knothe & Bruce, Pyare Square Project No. 1403, issued 
April 7, 2015. 

O. South Wing Fourth Floor Plan, 11 x 17 sheet numbered A-1.4A, 
prepared by Knothe & Bruce, Pyare Square Project No. 1403, issued 
April 7, 2015. 

P. North Wing Fourth Floor Plan, 11 x 17 sheet numbered A-1.4B, 
prepared by Knothe & Bruce, Pyare Square Project No. 1403, issued 
April 7, 2015. 



1015151539 4

Q. South Wing Fifth Floor Plan, 11 x 17 sheet numbered A-1.5, 
prepared by Knothe & Bruce, Pyare Square Project No. 1403, issued 
April 7, 2015. 

R. South Wing Roof Plan, 11 x 17 sheet numbered A-1.6A, prepared by 
Knothe & Bruce, Pyare Square Project No. 1403, issued August 4, 
2015. 

S. North Wing Roof Plan, 11 x 17 sheet numbered A-1.6B, prepared by 
Knothe & Bruce, Pyare Square Project No. 1403, issued August 4, 
2015. 

T. Pyare-Shorewood East Elevation April 8, 2015, 11 x 17 sheet 
prepared by Knothe & Bruce. 

U. Pyare-Shorewood West Elevation April 8, 2015, 11 x 17 sheet 
prepared by Knothe & Bruce. 

V. Pyare-Shorewood North and South Elevations April 8, 2015, 11 x 17 
sheet prepared by Knothe & Bruce. 

W. Untitled 11 x 17 sheets, 2 color photographs of the Lodge at Walnut 
Grove (street views and interior/exterior views). 

X. Untitled 11x 17 sheet, 1 three dimensional rendering prepared by 
James Faecke. 

Y. Easement Agreement between Flad Development & Investment 
Corp. and Hong Kong Metro Realty CO., Inc. dated January 28, 
2013 and recorded with the Dane County Register of Deeds on May 
8, 2013 as Document No. 4985590, seventeen pages. 

Landscape Section:  

Z. Overall Site Landscape Plan, 11 x 17 sheet, numbered L1, prepared 
by The Bruce Company, revised date 08/03/15. 

AA. South Building, 11 x 17 sheet, numbered L2, prepared by The Bruce 
Company, revised date 08/03/15. 

BB. North Building, 11 x 17 sheet, numbered L3, prepared by The Bruce 
Company, revised date 08/03/15. 

CC. Untitled Landscape Drawing, 11 x 17 sheet, numbered L4, prepared 
by The Bruce Company, revised date 08/03/15. 



1015151539 5

DD. Bike Station, 11 x 17 sheet, numbered L5, prepared by The Bruce 
Company, revised date 08/03/15. 

EE. Untitled - Outdoor Activity Specifications, 11 x 17 sheet, numbered 
L6 Details, prepared by The Bruce Company, revised date 08/03/15, 
including Haws 3377 Outdoor Drinking Fountain, Nantucket Swing 
Set, Madrax RepairStan, Penn Table, Reading Bench, and Bollards 
& Post and Ring Racks, seven pages. 

FF. Pyare Square Redevelopment, four pages of photos of trees, bushes 
and flowers.  

GG. Website of Belson Outdoors depicting Bollards & Bollard Bike 
Racks with Round Arms, page 1 of 3, visited 08/27/2012. 

HH. Depictions of bench and bike rack.  

II. Type “A” – 6006 Locking Vertical Rack, by Saris Cycling Group. 

JJ. Type “B” – 6 Bike Stadium U-Rack, by Saris Cycling Group. 

Site Lighting: 

KK. Site Lighting Photometrics explanation attaching Site Lighting 
Photometrics, 11 x 17 sheet, numbered E0.2, prepared by Electric 
Construction, Inc., Preliminary Site Plan Review dated 03/20/15, 
Added Roadway Lighting dated 07/14/15. 

LL. Lighting specifications, BDA8-HV, type B3, BDA8-HV-AL-70MH-
HS180 U.S. Architectural Lighting, pages C1-7 and C1-8, two 
pages. 

MM. Security lighting, TR Tribute, MPTR-3S-MP150, Type P3 by 
Cooper Lighting-Lumark, 15 feet pole, three pages. 

NN. Light specifications, Artisan II – 0680, photo and diagram, Type SP3 
& SP5, two pages. 

OO. Lighting specifications, Sternberg 1280 Artisan Series, pages I-54, 
I-57, I-55 and I-56, four pages. 

PP. Security lighting by McGraw-Edison, IST 70 MP 120 2S Type W4, 
IST Impact Elite Trapezoid outdoor Luminaire, two pages.  



1015151539 6

QQ. Apartment Balcony Light Fixture, Incandescent lighting by Progress 
Lighting 5” cylinder outdoor wall mount, photo and specifications, 
two pages.   

RR. Signage, Lodge Phase II Entrance Marker at University Avenue 
Entrance drawing. 

Shadow Studies: 

SS. University Avenue, Pyare Square Solar Studies, Proposed March 21 
9am and 3pm and Existing March 21 9am and 3pm, one 11x17 sheet 
with drawings by Knothe & Bruce.  

TT. University Avenue, Pyare Square Solar Studies, Proposed June 21 
9am and 3pm and Existing June 21 9am and 3pm, one 11x17 sheet 
with drawings by Knothe & Bruce.  

UU. University Avenue, Pyare Square Solar Studies, Proposed 
September 21 9am and 3pm and Existing September 21 9am and 
3pm, one 11x17 sheet with drawings by Knothe & Bruce.  

VV. University Avenue, Pyare Square Solar Studies, Proposed 
December 21 9am and 3pm and Existing December 21 9am and 
3pm, one 11x17 sheet with drawings by Knothe & Bruce 

 
6. On August 11, 2015 the Village Plan Commission conducted a public 

hearing on the GDP and SDP.   
 
7. On September 15, 2015 the Village Plan Commission recommended 

changing the zoning classification of the Property to PUD, and recommended approving 
the GDP and SDP. 
 

8. On October 19, 2015, the Village Board considered changing the zoning 
classification of the Property to PUD, and considered approving the GDP and SDP. 
 

9. The Village Board finds, based upon the criteria set forth in section 10-1-33 
of the Village Code of Ordinances, and subject to certain conditions, that changing the 
zoning classification of the Property to PUD, and approving the GDP and SDP, is 
consistent with the spirit and intent of the Village’s Zoning Code, is consistent with the 
Village’s Comprehensive Plan, has the potential for producing significant community 
benefits in terms of housing (including affordable housing), will substantially increase the 
Village’s tax base, and promotes the public health, safety and general welfare of the 
Village. 

 



1015151539 7

ORDINANCE 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Village Board of the Village of Shorewood Hills, Dane 

County, Wisconsin adopts the following ordinance: 
 

Section 1. The recitals set forth above are material to and are incorporated in 
this ordinance as if set forth in full.   
 

Section 2. Subject to the conditions set forth in section 3 below, the zoning 
classification the Property should be changed to Planned Unit Development District, and 
the GDP and SDP should be approved, pursuant to section 10-1-33 of the Village Code 
and Wis. Stat. § 62.23(7)(d). 
 

Section 3. The change in the zoning classification of the Property to Planned 
Unit Development District should not be effective until the following conditions have 
been satisfied:   

A. The applicant or its assignee has acquired ownership of all of the Property. 

B. A stormwater management plan meeting the Village’s requirements has 
been approved by the Village Engineer. 

C. That portion of the Property currently located in the City of Madison has 
been detached from the City of Madison and attached to the Village of 
Shorewood Hills. 

D. The applicant has obtained Village approval of, and recorded, a Certified 
Survey Map in substantially the same form as the Certified Survey Map, 
dated August 4, 2015, included in the August Submittal.   

E. An agreement relating to the development of the Property, that is 
satisfactory to the Village and the applicant, has been signed by the 
applicant or its assignee, the Village of Shorewood Hills, and any other 
parties deemed necessary by the Village.  The agreement must address tax 
increment financing for the development (if any); the taxable status of the 
Property; public use of and maintenance responsibility for the pedestrian 
and vehicular infrastructure on the Property, the bike repair station on the 
Property, and the playground on the Property; cross easements for 
pedestrian and vehicular use of private drives on the Property and The 
Lodge Phase 1 property; termination of the lease agreement regarding 
Locust Drive entered into by the Village and Lee & Lee on October 1, 
2000; and any other issues the Village or the applicant deem necessary or 
appropriate in connection with the development of the Property.   



1015151539 8

Section 4. The Property shall be developed and used in full compliance with 
the General Development Plan and a Specific Development Plan. The General 
Development Plan and Specific Development Plan shall constitute the zoning regulations 
for the Property, and may be enforced as any other zoning regulation in the Village of 
Shorewood Hills. A copy of the General Development Plan and the Specific 
Development Plan shall be maintained and kept on file by the Village Clerk. 

Section 5. If the conditions in Section 3 of this Ordinance have not been 
satisfied by 12:00 noon on June 30, 2016, or such later date as the Village Board may 
approve, this Ordinance shall automatically, and without any further action, become null 
and void and of no further force or effect. 
 

The above and foregoing ordinance was duly adopted by the Village Board of the 
Village of Shorewood Hills at its meeting held on October 19, 2015, by a vote of ______ 
in favor, ______ opposed, and ______ not voting.   
 
 

APPROVED:   
 
 
By        
Mark Sundquist, Village President  
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
By ______________________________ 
Colleen Albrecht, Village Clerk 

 
 
Attachment:  Exhibit A - Legal Description of the Property 



1015151539 9

 
EXHIBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY 
 

 
Parcel I: Part of the unplatted portion of Section 17, Township 7 North, Range 9 East, in 
the Village of Shorewood Hills, Dane County, Wisconsin, described as follows: 
 
Commencing at the South 1/4 corner of Section 17; thence North 00 degrees 26' 10" East 
32.83 feet: thence North 89 degrees 49' 42" West 392.63 feet to the point of beginning of 
this description; thence North 89 degrees 49' 42" West 125.00 feet; thence North 00 
degrees 14' 10" West, 463.43 feet; thence along a curve to the right whose radius is 
17,138.55 feet and whose long chord bears North 80 degrees 31' 20" East, 126.63 feet; 
thence South 00 degrees 14' 10" East, 484.66 feet to the point of beginning. 
 
Parcel II: Part of Section 17, Township 7 North, Range 9 East, in the Village of 
Shorewood Hills, Dane County, Wisconsin, described as follows: 
 
Commencing at the South 1/4 corner of said Section 17; thence North 00 degrees 26' 10" 
East for a distance of 32.83 feet to the North right of way line of University Avenue; 
thence North 89 degrees 49'42" West along the said right of way line for a distance of 
392.63 feet to the Southeast corner of property of Pyare Square Company; thence North 
00 degrees14' 10" West along the East line of aforementioned property a distance of 
484.66 feet to a point on the Southerly right of way line of the Chicago, Milwaukee, St. 
Paul & Pacific Railroad and the point of beginning of this description; thence Easterly 
along said right of way by the arc of a circle curving to the right having a radius of 
17,138.55 feet a distance of 355 feet more or less to a point which is 40 feet Westerly of 
the North-South 1/4 line of said Section 17; thence South 00 degrees 14' 10" East on a 
line parallel to and 40 feet from the aforementioned North-South 1/4 line, a distance of 65 
feet more or less; thence Westerly and parallel to and 65 feet from the aforesaid right of 
way line of Chicago, Milwaukee, St. Paul & Pacific Railroad a distance of 355 feet, more 
or less, to a point on the East line of aforementioned property of Pyare Square Company; 
thence North 00 degrees 14' 10" West a distance of 65 feet more or less, to the point of 
beginning. 
 
Parcel III: Part of the Southwest 1/4 of Section 17, Township 7 North, Range 9 East, in 
the Village of Shorewood Hills, Dane County, Wisconsin, described as follows: 
Commencing at the South 1/4 corner of said Section 17; thence North 00 degrees 26' 10" 
East 32.83; feet thence North 00 degrees 14' 10" West 479.63 feet to the point of 
beginning of this description; thence on a curve to the left which has a radius of 
17,073.55 feet and a long chord South 81 degrees 58'30" West, 40.37 feet; thence North 
00 degrees 14' 10" West 65.62 feet; thence along a curve to the right which has a radius 



1015151539 10

of 17,138.55 feet and a long chord North 81 degrees 58' 50" East, 40.37 feet; thence 
South 00 degrees 14' 10" East 65.62 feet to the point of beginning. 
Parcel IV: All that part of the Southeast 1/4 of the Southwest 1/4 of Section 17, 
Township 7 North, Range 9 East, in the City of Madison, Dane County, Wisconsin, 
described as follows: Beginning at a point in the intersection of the South line of the 
grantor's right of way with the East line of said Southeast 1/4 of the Southwest 1/4 of 
Section 17; thence Southwesterly along said grantor's Southerly right of way line a 
distance of 524 feet; thence Northerly, parallel with the East line of said Southeast 1/4 of 
the Southwest 1/4 of Section 17 to a point 25 feet Southerly of, measured radially, the 
centerline of grantor's maintrack; thence Northeasterly, along a line 25 feet Southerly of, 
measured radially, the centerline of the grantor's main tract to the East line of said 
Southeast 1/4 of the Southwest 1/4 of Section 17; thence Southerly along a straight line 
of the point of beginning. Also described as all of railroad right of way adjacent to and 
between Parcels 1,2, and 3, and a line 25.00 feet South of and parallel with the railroad 
centerline and located in the Southwest 1/4 of Section 17, Township 7 North, Range 9 
East, in the City of Madison, Dane County, to—wit: Commencing at the South 1/4 corner 
of said Section 17; thence North 00 degrees 26' 10" East 32.83 feet; thence North 00 
degrees 14'10" West 545.25 feet to the South line of the Chicago, Milwaukee, St. Paul & 
Pacific Railroad right of way, said point being the point of beginning of this description; 
thence Southwesterly along said South line, on a curve to the left which has a radius of 
17,138.55 feet and a chord which bears South 81 degrees 10' 47" West, 523.48 feet; 
thence North 00 degrees 14' 10" West 25.46 feet to a point on a curve; thence 
Northeasterly on a curve to the right which has a radius of 5,704.65 feet and a chord 
which bears North 81 degrees 13' 03" East 523.43 feet; thence South 00 degrees 14' 10" 
East, 25.11 feet to the point of beginning, excepting therefrom those lands deeded to the 
Village of Shorewood Hills by Document No. 3262259. 
 
Parcel V: Leasehold Estate created by indenture of lease entered into by and between the 
Village of Shorewood Hills, as lessor(s) and Lee & Lee Limited Partnership, as lessee(s), 
dated October 6, 2000, a lease agreement of which was recorded in the Office of the 
Register of Deeds for Dane County, Wisconsin, on October 30, 2000 as Document No. 
3262262 demising premises situated in said County and State and described as follows: 
 
A Parcel of land being the Westerly 150 feet of the Locust Drive right of way in the 
recorded plat of Garden Homes Addition, located in the Southwest 1/4 of the Southeast 
1/4 of Section 17, Township 7 North, Range 9 East, in the Village of Shorewood Hills, 
Dane County, Wisconsin, Excepting therefrom, any part thereof which lies within the 
traveled way at the corner of Maple Terrace and Locust Drive in said plat, and together 
with any extension thereof, extended Easterly to said traveled way. 
 
Property conveyed from Shorewood Hills to Lee & Lee Limited Partnership of 
Wisconsin. Part of Lot One (1), Certified Survey Map No. 5876, recorded in Volume 28 



1015151539 11

of Certified Survey Maps, page 5, as Document No. 2148136, in the Village of 
Shorewood Hills, Dane County, Wisconsin, to wit: 
 
Beginning at the Northwest corner said Lot One (1); thence South 00 degrees 14' 10" East 
8.09 feet; thence North 80 degrees 56' 46" East, 187.93 feet; thence North 82 degrees 15' 
00" East, 208.70 feet; thence North 00 degrees 14' 10" West 10.00 feet to a point on a 
curve; thence along a curve to the left which has a radius of 17,073.55 feet and a chord 
which bears South 81 degrees 21' 34" West 396.88 feet to the point of beginning. 
 
 
 



 

 

999 Fourier Drive, Suite 201 
Madison, Wisconsin 53717 
(608) 826-0532 phone 
(608) 826-0530 FAX 
www.vierbicher.com 

vision to reality 
 

R e e d s b u r g  ( 6 0 8 )  5 2 4 - 6 4 6 8  |  M a d i s o n  ( 6 0 8 )  8 2 6 - 0 5 3 2  |  P r a i r i e  d u  C h i e n  ( 6 0 8 )  3 2 6 - 1 0 5 1  

 

August 10, 2015 
 
Village of Shorewood Hills Plan Commission 
c/o Karl Frantz, Village Administrator 
Village of Shorewood Hills 
810 Shorewood Blvd.  
Madison, WI 53705 
 
Re: Review of Proposed 4610 University Avenue rezoning from C-2 to Planned Unit Development 

(PUD) 
 
Dear Plan Commission: 
 
The Village of Shorewood Hills retained Vierbicher to assist with the review of the Planned Unit 
Development (PUD) zoning application for the redevelopment of a parcel at 4610 University Avenue, 
which falls under Sec. 10-1-33 of the Village’s zoning code.  According to the zoning code, the PUD 
designation was established “to encourage and promote improved environmental and aesthetic design 
in the Village by allowing for greater design freedom, imagination and flexibility in the development of 
land while insuring substantial compliance with the basic intent of [the zoning code] and the Village 
Comprehensive Plan.”  Design freedom includes variation in required lot area, lot width, building height, 
floor area ratio (FAR), yard, usable open space requirements, signage, and off-street parking 
requirements.  This letter compares the proposed redevelopment with the criteria outlined in the Village’s 
PUD ordinance for both the General Development Plan (GDP) and Specific Development Plan (SDP). 
 
Project Overview 
The subject site is approximately 2.26 acres (98,594 sq ft) and quickly slopes 27 
feet from the south property line (University Avenue) towards the rear of the 
property.  
 
“The Lodge, Phase II” contains 94 apartment units (unit mix shown at right).  The 
development would replace a 14-story office tower located adjacent to Target 
and the Overlook at Hilldale. According to the proposal packet the existing 
structure remains 95% vacant. Recent unsuccessful redevelopment attempts 
include a 2008 proposal to convert the office structure into parking and 
condominiums and a 2010 proposal to remove the structure and develop 
approximately 150 units of senior housing. 
 
The applicant requests $2,490,000 of tax increment financing (TIF) assistance to offset the cost of the 
demolition of the Pyare office building and the construction of eight affordable housing units. A separate 
analysis of the TIF request is being prepared for the Village Board to review. 
 
PUD Ordinance Review (Sec. 10-1-33) 
The Village zoning ordinance outlines criteria for approval to be used by the Plan Commission and the 
Village Board when reviewing a proposal.  The criteria are: 

Unit Type # Units 

Eff. 12 

1 BR 48 

1 BR+Den 2 

2 BR 30 

3 BR 2 



August 7,2015 
Page 2 of 11 
 

 

Character and Intensity of Land Use.  A PUD’s uses and intensity, appearance and arrangement 
shall: 
a. Be compatible with the physical nature of the site or area. 

The proposed building is compatible with the physical nature for the redevelopment 
projects immediately to the east.  This four-story, 54 foot tall structure1 continues the 
pattern of walkable urban redevelopment illustrated in the Pyare Neighborhood Plan. This 
second phase of the redevelopment area matches form and function of “The Lodge” 
and lessens the massing of the development by placing a courtyard between the two 
separate structures. 
 
Interconnectivity of phase 2 represents the development concepts encouraged in the 
Pyare Neighborhood Plan and by the Plan Commission. The proposed buildings also 
comply with “4-sided architecture” – creating visual interest on all four sides by varying 
materials, colors, and wall articulation of the façade.  The slope of the site does present a 
challenge as the southern building is eight feet lower than the public right-of-way and 
sidewalk. This proposal illustrates a retaining wall and railing to ensure the development 
does not hinder pedestrian circulation adjacent to University Avenue. 

 
b. Produce an attractive environment of sustained aesthetic desirability, economic stability, 

and functional compatibility with the Village Comprehensive Plan. 
The proposed building materials match the materials used to construct phase 1 of The 
Lodge and are also complimentary to the color palette used at the Overlook at Hilldale 
on the south side of University Avenue.   
 
Vierbicher notes that not every property within this section of the comprehensive plan 
and neighborhood plan must be a complete vertical integration of commercial and 
residential uses. The Village simply needs to be mindful of the greater mix of uses within a 
redevelopment area. The relatively narrow lot and sloping nature of the site makes 
inclusion of a retail or commercial component nearly infeasible. The construction of multi-
family units does not preclude the upgrading of the remaining commercial property 
immediately adjacent to the site (i.e. McDonald’s). Therefore, the proposed use is 
consistent with the Village Comprehensive Plan.  

 
c. Not adversely affect the anticipated provision for school or other municipal services unless 

jointly resolved. 
School Services 
Previous experience with The Lodge redevelopment indicates that the impact of the 
proposed The Lodge, Phase II redevelopment on school attendance would be small. The 
Madison Metropolitan School District uses a general multiplier of 0.12 children per two and 
three bedroom apartment. Madison Metropolitan School District multiplier results in 
approximately 4 children being added to the Shorewood Elementary attendance area 
(no multiplier is used for efficiencies or one-bedroom apartments). Thirty-four percent of 
the proposed units are two or three bedrooms (32 units), which is a slightly lower 
percentage than in phase 1 (39%).  
 
Village Population 
The chart below shows Village population estimates in relation to the current 
development proposals. 

                                              
1 42 feet measured ast the University Avenue frontage and 54 feet at the north façade of the northern building. 



August 7,2015 
Page 3 of 11 
 

 

 

1: Population projection per current 2-year average DU population rate of The Lodge. Scheduled to open 2016. Assumes change 
from 54 units to 55 units. 
2 : Population projection per current 2-year average DU population rate of The Lodge. Subject to July 2015 Plan Commission 
Meeting. 
3: Population projection per current 2-year average DU population rate of The Lodge. 
4: Population assumes current per DU population rate of Arbor Crossing I (1.86) 
 
As has been discussed in previous projects and in the May 2010 multi-family report to the 
Village, any increase in emergency service calls to the site is expected to be nominal 
based on past experience. The City of Madison, through its service agreement with the 
Village, is well-equipped to provide fire and EMS services to the development.    
 
The Village’s fee payment for fire and EMS service depends on the Village population and 
equalized value relative to the City of Madison.  If the Village equalized value and 
population increases at a faster rate than the City of Madison, the Village fire and EMS fee 
will increase.  Over the long term the City of Madison’s population growth rate and 
equalized value growth rate will far outpace the Village’s, which would likely lead to a 
stagnant or even decreased Village fire and EMS fee.   
 
Because the Village’s equalized value and population is very small in comparison to the 
City of Madison’s a relatively small project (or series of small projects) in the near term can 
have a sizeable impact on the fee the Village must pay to the City.  Continued growth in 
the City of Madison (in both population and equalized value) over the coming years 
would lessen the impact.  However, because nealy all of the redevelopment potential in 
the Village that is likely to redevelop over the coming years is within tax increment districts, 
the Village would not see a commensurate increase in property tax collections accruing 
to the general fund to offset the fee increase. If approved, the Board will have to 
determine whether and how it would like to see the fire/EMS fee issue addressed for The 
Lodge, Phase II and for future projects. 
 
The Village would not see any increase in demand for services such as snow plowing or 
garbage collection since such services will be provided to the area via private contract.  
Demand for some general Village services, such as voter registration, park use, etc., would 
increase proportionally with population.  
 
Utilities 
The Village Engineer is reviewing utilities and stormwater issues, and will provide a 
separate review letter covering those items. 

 
d. Not create a utility, traffic, or parking demand incompatible with the existing or proposed 

facilities to serve it unless jointly resolved. 
 
 

Existing 

Under  
Construction/ 
Proposed 
 

Population Dwelling 
Units

Pop. Per 
DU

Pop. 
Increase 

Over 2014

DU 
Increase 

Over 2014
Wisconsin DOA 1/1/2014 Estimate 1,776        660        2.69 -- --

(Arbor Crossing - in 2014 Estimate) (149)          (80)        (1.86) -- --
Walnut Grove 155           100        1.55 -- --
700 University Bay Drive1 85             55         1.55 4.4% 8.3%
AT&T Plaza2 64             41         1.55 3.3% 6.2%
Walnut Grove II3 146           94         1.55 7.5% 14.2%
Arbor Crossing II4 171           92         1.86 8.9% 13.9%
Total 2,397        1,042     -- 24.1% 42.7%



 

 

 
Parking and Traffic 
The adjoining tables state 142 
vehicles stalls would be required 
for this proposed residential 
development under the 
standard zoning district. The 
proposal list 95 underground 
parking stalls and 42 surface 
parking stalls. One underground 
or covered parking stall per unit 
has become the unofficial 
standard for multifamily 
projects throughout the 
greater Madison region.  
 
Vierbicher believes the 
proposal contains adequate 
parking given the substantial 
amount of bicycle parking and the proximity to the major east-west bicycle path. The 
Village may have a concern with the total amount of surface parking and the desire to 
reestablish additional greenspace on the site. 

 
e. Economic Impact.  A proposed PUD shall not adversely affect the economic prosperity of 

the Village or of surrounding properties.   
The parcel currently assesses at $3,750,000, which is up $339,648 from when the village 
created TID #4 in 2010.  The developer estimated a final assessed value of $10,880,000 for 
the project – an increase of $6,790,352 million since the TID was created.  The current 
owner paid $80,925.27 in property taxes in 2014.  That amount is estimated to increase to 
$244,350 for tax year 2017 (collected in 2018 the first year the project would be fully 
assessed).  Unfortunately given the remaining life of the TID, the project could not be 
completely self-sustaining under the “pay-go” TIF scenario. Therefore, the applicant 
requests the creation of new TID to facilitate the redevelopment of the Pyare parcel and 
eventually the McDonald’s property. 
  
Vierbicher is currently preparing summary materials to present to the Village Board 
regarding the impact of the current development proposals and the TID. 

 
2. Preservation and maintenance of open space.  A PUD shall make adequate provision for the 

improvement and continuing preservation and maintenance of attractive open space. 
Similar to The Lodge, the primary outdoor space provided for residents are the balconies, 
terraces, and green roofs integrated into the building.  The proposal also illustrates greenspace, a 
playground, and two defined trail connections located on the northern portion of the site. 
 

3. Implementation schedule.  A PUD shall include suitable assurances that each phase could be 
completed in a manner which would not result in an adverse effect upon the community as a 
result of termination at that point. 
The applicant stated the project could begin in the fourth quarter of 2015 or the first quarter of 
2016. The demolition of the Pyare office building could take up to three months to complete 
before site work could commence

Unit Type # Units Required Per Unit Total Required 
Eff. 12 1.25 15 

1 BR 48 1.25 60 
1 BR+Den 2 1.25 2.5 

2 BR 30 2 60 
3 BR 2 2 4 
Total 94 - 141.5 

 Shown Typ. Village 
Requirement Difference 

Car (underground) 95 142 -5 Car (surface) 42 
Bike (underground) 42 0  
Bike (surface) 8  
Grand Total 42 101  



August 7,2015 
Page 5 of 11 
 

 

4. Adherence to Comprehensive Plan.  A PUD shall further the Village Comprehensive Plan.  
The Village’s Comprehensive Plan contains several goals, objectives, and policies that apply to 
this project:  

• Page 27 – objective: “Increase housing density in designated redevelopment areas.”  
• Page 27 – objective: “Provide a mix of land uses that offers conveniences for local 

residences; supports public transit, recognizes traffic and parking impacts; and provides 
appropriate increases in tax revenues.  

• Page 28 – policy: “Encourage mixed-use redevelopment of the Doctor’s Park and Pyare 
areas . . .” 

• Page 28 – policy: “Encourage redevelopment along University Avenue to integrate 
structured parking.” 

• Page 71 – goal: “Make the entire Village pedestrian and bicycle friendly.” 
• Page 71 – goal: “Support and accommodate multiple modes of transportation.” 
• Page 71 – goal: “Provide safe pedestrian and bicycle access to areas adjacent to the 

Village.” 
• Page 72 – policy: “Support use of alternative modes of transportation (walking, biking, 

carpooling, etc.) . . .” 
• Page 72 – policy: “Require that any new developments in the [ ] Doctor’s Park or VA 

Hospital areas be ‘transit ready’ by incorporating elements of transit oriented/supportive 
development (generally compact, mixed-use, and walkable).”  

• Page 71 – policy: “Minimize driveway openings onto public roads as redevelopment 
occurs.” 

• Page 84 – goal: “Provide a variety of housing for all Village residents.” 
• Page 84 – objective: “Create more mixed use/mixed income multifamily housing.” 
• Page 84 – objective: “Expand housing density and affordability in larger-scale 

redevelopment plans.” 
• Page 85 – policy: “Work with developers to integrate multifamily housing into 

redevelopment projects along University Avenue where appropriate.” 
• Page 85 – policy: “Emphasize the housing component of the mixed-use redevelopment 

recommended in the Pyare and Doctor’s Park Neighborhood Plans with developers who 
are considering redevelopment projects in those areas.” 

 
Because the Pyare Neighborhood Plan gives more detailed recommendations for the area than 
the Village’s Comprehensive Plan (the Pyare plan is referenced as an appendix to the 
Comprehensive Plan), the proposed PUD has also been reviewed in relation to the Pyare 
Neighborhood Plan (PNP).  This analysis compares this redevelopment proposal with relevant 
objectives from the PNP.  Page numbers are noted, and objectives are in italics, with 
commentary following: 
 
PNP Land Use: 

• Page 19:  Locate uses in a manner which takes advantage of the visibility and 
topography of the area.  The proposal takes advantage of the sloping site by loading 
under-building parking for each apartment from the east and north.  

• Page 20: Address municipal boundary issues just to the north of the Pyare parcel. The 
applicant has stated they are working through the boundary issue with the Village and 
the City. This will attached the balance of the site to the Village of Shorewood Hills. 

• Page 20:  Parcels within the planning area shall remain taxable.  Because a TIF request is 
has been made, the Village will be able to include a stipulation in the Developer’s 
Agreement that the property remain taxable.   

• Page 21:  Develop common greenspace with connections throughout the area to 
encourage more integration with the residential neighborhood.  Most of the greenspace 
associated with the proposed development is used to complement the development 
with aesthetic and stormwater improvements. The site offers a direct connection to the 
bike path that runs along the railroad tracks adjacent to the site.   



 

 

• Page 21:  Utilize structured or underground parking as much as possible.  About 67% of the 
proposed parking is underground.  Each apartment unit will have one underground stall 
available and additional parking for the apartments are provided with surface stalls.  
Significant underground parking for bicycles as also been included within this packet.  

• Page 21:  Maintain uniform parking configuration (perpendicular, parallel, angled, etc.) 
throughout all surface parking.  The proposed layout does not strictly adhere to this 
recommendation; however, given the context of the proposed site constraints the layout 
seems appropriate.  

PNP Urban Design: 
• Page 31:  Promote pedestrian safety.  Pedestrian safety is greatly enhanced by the 

proposed redevelopment. The sidewalk connection continues straight north to tie into the 
bicycle path.  

• Page 31:  Implement design guidelines for redevelopment to support a pleasant 
pedestrian experience.  The plan includes benches, pedestrian-scale lighting, and ample 
landscaping along the building foundations.  

PNP Transportation: 
• Page 41 (two objectives combined):  Improve and condense access into the area from 

the eastbound and westbound University Avenue lanes; improve internal connectivity.  
The proposed development greatly improves internal connectivity.  The site circulation 
provides access to eastbound University Avenue from both the Pyare site and Walnut 
Grove site without having to go to Rose Place, though many people will prefer a 
signalized intersection for left turns.  The two existing curb cuts on University Avenue are 
maintained, which fits in well with the site layout.   

• Page 42: Encourage the use of mass transit and other non-car oriented transportation 
methods.  The site utilized pedestrian enhancements and bike connections to the multi-
use trail to better connect the site to non-motorized modes of travel.  

• Page 43:  Enhance internal pedestrian connections.  A system of pedestrian sidewalks, 
crosswalks, and a trail connection enhances multi modal opportunities. 

PNP Utilities & Community facilities 
• Page 46: Use greenspace for stormwater management. The site utilizes a section of the 

northern portion of the property for stormwater management. 
 

General Development Plan (GDP) _Review 
In addition to the overall criteria for approval of a PUD listed above, there are requirements that the GDP 
must fulfill.  According to the ordinance, the GDP shall include the following: 
 
1. A statement describing the general character of the intended development. 

The applicant included a cover letter/statement within the application packet. 
 

2. An accurate map of the project area including its relationship to surrounding properties and 
existing topography and key features. 
The applicant submitted an ALTA Survey, an unrecorded CSM, and site and building plans within 
the application packet.   
 

3. A plan of the proposed project showing sufficient detail to make possible the evaluation of the 
criteria for approval set forth in Section 10-1-33(e) above 
The submitted materials provide enough information for the discussion of rezoning to a PUD-GDP.



August 7,2015 
Page 7 of 11 
 

 

The GDP proposes several deviations from the typical zoning regulations.  The existing zoning for the site is 
C-1 VILLAGE COMMERCIAL DISTRICT (parking Lot) and C-2 LIMITED COMMERCIAL DISTRICT (building). The 
following chart compares the C-1 and C-2 standards with what is proposed in the GDP. It also compares 
the development to the standard R-4 MULTI FAMILY DISTRICT.  

Item 
C-1 

Standard 
(Parking) 

C-2 
Standard 
(Building) 

R-4 
Multi-
Family 

PUD 
Proposed Discussion 

Use Condition
al Use 

Residential 
Not 

Permitted 

Permitted 
 

Residential 
and Parking 

Lot 

While these the proposed use does not meet the 
current zoning code, it does strive to meet the 
Village Comprehensive Plan and the Pyare 
Neighborhood Plan 

Height Min 30’ 
Max 45’ 130’ 50’ Approx 54’ 

42 feet measured along the University Avenue 
frontage, and 54 feet at the north facade of the 
northern building 

Min. Setback – 
along other 
University Ave 

- 42’ 42’ 13’ 

The proposal places the building closer to the 
street frontage, similar to that of the structures 
across the street and to those being developed 
elsewhere along University Avenue 

Min. Setback – 
side 0’ 0’ 10’ 12-13’ (west) 

The west side setback would meet the standard 
requirements. The building is also 45+ feet from 
the neighboring commercial and residential uses 
to the east.   

Min. Setback – 
rear 25’ 40’ 25’ Building 26’ 

Parking 7’ - 

Min. Lot Size None None 43,560 sq ft 
1 Acre 

98,494 sq ft  
2.26 Acres - 

Maximum Lot 
Coverage 
(structures) 

40% 40% 50% 71.7% 
-This is slightly higher than Phase 1 of The Lodge, 
700 UBay Drive, and Arbor Crossing (ranging in 
mid 60%).  

Min. Parking - 142  138 Ample bicycle parking 

  
4. A statement addressing relevant items under Section 10-1-33(c) above. 

A detailed project description/statement was provided. The submittal packet states the 
applicant is agreeable to the following items that can be added as conditions of approval. 

- 10:30pm limitation on the hours of operations for the courtyard and rooftop terrace 
- To restriction on the hours for noise related activities (deliveries, trash pick-up, 

snowplowing, ect) to take place between the hours of 7:00am and 10:00pm 
- Roof mounted equipment and utilities shall not be visible from the street and screen 

by the height of the parapet walls of the building. Noise from the rood mounted 
equipment shall be subject to the Village Noise Ordinance.  

 
The submittal packet also includes a shadow study. Generally, the proposed 
development impacts the adjacent properties less than the existing Pyare office building. 

 
5. A general outline of intended organizational structure related to property owner’s association, 

deed restrictions and private provision of common services. 
The owner is listed as “Flad Development and Investment Corp” and there are no proposed deed 
restrictions listed at this time. 

 
6. An economic feasibility study of the proposed use and proof of financial capability. 

The applicant concurrently requested tax increment financing assistance, and submitted 
information with the TIF request as to the economic feasibility of the project.  A separate TIF 
request review letter will be provided to the Village Administrator and Village Board. 
 

7. When requested, any other information necessary to evaluate the proposal. 
No further information has been requested from the applicant at this time.   



 

 

 
Specific Development Plan (SDP) Review 
Vierbicher submitted an initial review memo to the petitioner to address deficiencies within the SDP 
materials. The petitioner responded with Amendment 1 Packet dated August 2015. The specific 
development plan shall include the following information (if applicable): 
 
a) Property boundary survey prepared by a registered land surveyor, indication of the scale (of at 

least 1" = 40'), bar scale, north arrow, vicinity map (not to scale), total site size in acres and 
square feet, name of owner or applicant and address and telephone number.  
Provided in the application packet and as part of the ALTA Survey and the CSM.  
 

b) Legal Description. 
Provided in the application packet and as part of the ALTA Survey and the CSM.  
 

c) Existing and proposed adjacent and subject site Zoning Districts. 
Provided in the application packet maps. 
 

d) Existing and proposed principal and accessory uses. 
Provided in the application packet narrative.  
 

e) Dimensions and square feet of each existing and proposed lot. 
 Provided in the revised application packet (sheet C-1.4). 
 

f) Location, height, dimensions, exterior materials and colors of each existing and proposed 
building. 
Provided in the revised application packet narrative and sheets A-2.1A, A-2.1B, A-2.2A, A-2.2B, A-
2.3, three pages of two dimensional building renderings prepared by KBA Architecture, and a 
three dimensional rendering prepared by James Faecke.  
 
The building materials are not specifically listed, but simply stated they match Phase I of “The 
Lodge”. The Plan Commission could require revised submittal sheets listing the materials prior to 
any approvals or place a condition of approval stating they must match the materials listed in 
Phase I.  The Plan Commission could also consider whether to continue the campus like feel of 
the “Maple Grove” development area or if this development proposal have a differentiating 
design scheme to add variety to the University Avenue street facades.   
 

g) Distance from each existing and proposed building to the nearest lot line. 
Provided in the revised application packet. 
 

h) Location, size and type of all existing and proposed utility lines and structures. 
Provided in the application packet. 
 

i) Location, size and dimensions of existing and proposed common areas, easements and other 
specially designated areas. 
Provided in the original and revised application packets. The buildings plans illustrate common 
areas located adjacent to the 2nd and 4th floor roof terraces.  
 

j) Location and dimensions of all existing and proposed walkways, sidewalks and trails. 
Provided in the original and revised application packets. 
 

k) Location, width of right-of-way and roadway surface, name and designation as public or private 
of adjacent existing and proposed driveways, streets, alleys and roadways. 
Provided in the application packet. 
 



 

 

vision to reality 
 

R e e d s b u r g  ( 6 0 8 )  5 2 4 - 6 4 6 8  |  M a d i s o n  ( 6 0 8 )  8 2 6 - 0 5 3 2  |  P r a i r i e  d u  C h i e n  ( 6 0 8 )  3 2 6 - 1 0 5 1  

l) Location, size, dimension, type, material and color of existing and proposed signs. 
Provided in the application packet (location identified by key item 12 of sheet C-1.4). Any 
approval of the sign plan should include a condition that the Village Engineer verify the location 
and height of the entrance markers do not interfere with a standard vision clearance triangle. 

 
m) Location, size, dimensions and type of fixtures of existing and proposed lighting standards. 

Provided in the original and revised application packet and match phase I of “The Lodge”. 
 

n) Page and volume number of any recorded easements or covenants and a note describing their 
effect on the use of the site. Proposed easement and covenants shall be submitted with the plan. 
Provided in the original and revised application packet. 
 

o) Grading and drainage plan. 
Provided in the application packet. 
 

p) Off-street parking areas including the information required in Section 10-1-70(b)(1) of this 
Chapter 
Provided in the application packet. 
 

q) Landscaping plan including the information required in Section 10-1-70(b)(1)g. of this Chapter 
Provided in the original and revised application packets. The two existing buildings to the south 
of the north "flag" of the site are tall enough to cast shadows. Review adjacent light levels and 
plant selection, especially Black Hills Spruce, to be sure this area (playground and bioretention 
area) gets enough sunlight for the proposed plants to thrive. 
 
Consider switching the location of the playset and the tree/picnic tables in the playground area 
to take advantage of the shade from the adjacent building for the playset.  

 
Double check all plant labels and quantities as a few plants are missing labels or appear to be 
mislabeled.  
 

r) Construction schedule indicating approximate construction beginning and ending dates and 
phases, if applicable 
Provided in the application packet. 

 
s) Other information as may be required by the Zoning Administrator, Plan Commission or Village 

Board for a complete review of the proposed development. 
No further information has been requested from the applicant at this time.   
 

 
Affordable Housing Component  
The developer has offered to include up to eight units of affordable housing if the Village provides TIF 
assistance beyond what is being requested for a 100% market-rate project. The developer has offered 
to undertake developer financing for 100% of the TIF request, which greatly reduces any risks to the 
Village in providing TIF assistance.  While the TIF request will be considered at the Village Board level, the 
Plan Commission is charged with guiding construction of affordable housing under the Village’s 
conciliation agreement with HUD.   
   
Conclusion 
The proposed redevelopment is in compliance with the detailed urban design and land use guidelines 
established as part of the Payre Neighborhood Plan.  The proposed building is four floors shorter than the 
maximum building height established in the plan and complies with the general goals, objectives, and 
policies established in the Village’s Comprehensive Plan; thus providing the Village with an opportunity 
to create additional affordable units.   



 

 

The proximity to transit and bike routes will make it easy for many residents to use multi-modal transit 
options.  The project is well-positioned to take advantage of existing bike routes and facilities by 
providing immediate access from a secure under-building bicycle parking area.  It also provides 
residents and public trail users a public space to rest and repair/tune their bicycles if necessary. 
 
I will be attending the Village Plan Commission meeting on August 11th to answer any questions 
regarding this letter.  In addition to the considerations of the Plan Commission, the applicant will need to 
observe any additional comments from the Village Engineer.  If you have any questions or comments 
prior to the Plan Commission meeting, please feel free to contact me at (608) 821-3967, or by e-mail at 
dlin@vierbicher.com. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Daniel J Lindstrom, AICP 
 
cc: Matt Dregne, Village Attorney (via email) 
 Brian Berquist, Village Engineer (via email) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

vision to reality 
 

R e e d s b u r g  ( 6 0 8 )  5 2 4 - 6 4 6 8  |  M a d i s o n  ( 6 0 8 )  8 2 6 - 0 5 3 2  |  P r a i r i e  d u  C h i e n  ( 6 0 8 )  3 2 6 - 1 0 5 1  

 


	0 a Oct 19 Agenda.pdf
	0 b Oct 19 Admin Notes
	6A a September Bills.pdf
	6A b October Bills.pdf
	6A c Revenue Comparison YTD.pdf
	6Bi Board Minutes Sep 21.pdf
	6Ci Ord L-2015-2 Ordinance Related to Parking.pdf
	6Cii Ord L-2015-5 Cross Connections.pdf
	6Cii z-Cross Connection Flyer.pdf
	6Ciii a Ord L-2015-6 Parking Restrictions.pdf
	6Ciii b Parking Configuration Table.pdf
	6Civ a Ord L-2015-7 zoning for 4610.pdf
	6Civ b Vierbicher Memo.pdf


<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice




